ssential Histories

he Collapse of Yugoslavia

Alastair Finlan

DR ALASTAIR FINLAN is a Lecturer in Strategic Studies in the Department of International Politics at Aberystwyth, The University of Wales. He has also lectured at the American University in Cairo, Britannia Royal Naval College, Keele University and Plymouth University. His publications include another title in the Essential Histories series, *The Gulf War 1991* (2003).

PROFESSOR ROBERT O'NEILL, AO D.PHIL. (Oxon), Hon D. Litt.(ANU), FASSA, Fr Hist S, is the Series Editor of the Essential Histories. His wealth of knowledge and expertise shapes the series content and provides up-to-theminute research and theory. Born in 1936 an Australian citizen, he served in the Australian army (1955–68) and has held a number of eminent positions in history circles, including the Chichele Professorship of the History of War at All Souls College, University of Oxford, 1987-2001, the Chairmanship of the Board of the Imperial War Museum and the Council of the International Institute for Strategic Studies, London. He is the author of many books including works on the German Army and the Nazi party, and the Korean and Vietnam wars. Now based in Australia on his retirement from Oxford, he is the Chairman of the Council of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute.



Essential Histories

The Collapse of Yugoslavia



Alastair Finlan

First published in Great Britain in 2004 by Osprey Publishing, Elms Court, Chapel Way, Botley, Oxford OX2 9LP, UK Email: info@ospreypublishing.com

© 2004 Osprey Publishing Ltd.

All rights reserved. Apart from any fair dealing for the purpose of private study, research, criticism or review, as permitted under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act, 1988, no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, electrical, chemical, mechanical, optical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the copyright owner: Enquiries should be addressed to the Publishers.

Every attempt has been made by the Publishers to secure the appropriate permissions for material reproduced in this book. If there has been any oversight we will be happy to rectify the situation and written submissions should be made to the Publishers.

ISBN 1 84176 805 7

A CIP catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

Editor: Jane Penrose Design: Ken Vail Graphic Design, Cambridge, UK Cartography by The Map Studio Index by Alan Thatcher Origination by Grasmere Digital Imaging, Leeds, UK Printed and bound in China by L. Rex Printing Company Ltd.

04 05 06 07 08 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Editor's note

Photographs by permission of Rex Features and Imperial War Museum, London.

For a complete list of titles available from Osprey Publishing please contact: Osprey Direct UK, PO Box 140, Wellingborough, Northants, NN8 2FA, UK. Email: info@ospreydirect.co.uk

Osprey Direct USA, c/o MBI Publishing, PO Box 1, 729 Prospect Ave, Osceola, WI 54020, USA. Email: info@ospreydirectusa.com

www.ospreypublishing.com

Contents

- Introduction 7
- Chronology 11

Background to war

The collapse of Yugoslavia 13

Warring sides

The uneven contest 19

Outbreak

Stumbling into violence 22

The fighting

The destruction of Yugoslavia 26

Portrait of a soldier

Lieutenant-Colonel Bob Stewart – UN Warrior 56

The world around war

- Global perspectives 63
 - Portrait of a civilian Zlata's diary 72

How the war ended

From peacekeeping to peace enforcement 79

Conclusion and consequences

- The Dayton Agreement 83
 - Further reading 91
 - List of abbreviations 92
 - Glossary of names 93
 - Index 94

Introduction

The collapse of Yugoslavia from 1991 to 1999 represents one of the greatest yet least understood tragedies of recent times. After the fall of the Berlin Wall and the end of the Cold War, the rest of Eastern Europe embraced with enthusiasm the opportunity to move forward beyond the ravages of communism. The Balkans, however, seemed to step backwards. The region seemed unable to shake off the history of conflict and violence which had oppressed it for so long - it is often forgotten that Yugoslavia endured not only a German occupation but also a bitter civil war during World War Two, in which about one million people died. Perhaps, then, it was unsurprising (yet still shocking) that painful reminders of the brutality of World War Two, like concentration camps, should re-emerge in Yugoslavia some 50 years later. Estimates suggest that nearly a quarter of a million people died in the savage ethnic fighting during the 1990s, and the international community watched in disbelief as genocide found new life in a modern age. Unlike other recent wars, the fighting in Yugoslavia was not dominated by high technology and detachment from the enemy. Instead, people killed those they knew, neighbour versus neighbour, and often with short-range weapons such as rifles, knives, or in some cases, pitchforks. It was a return to a type of warfare that seemed medieval in comparison to state-of-the-art, satellite-guided bombs and cruise missiles that are the hallmarks of modern military operations.

The international effects of the bloody disintegration of Yugoslavia have been substantial, wide-ranging, and are still evident in contemporary global affairs. Millions of refugees fled from the region into other parts of Europe, with profound social and economic consequences for their host countries. The influx of refugees was not only an unwelcome financial burden, but also sparked unrest in countries that were forced to absorb people with a completely different set of norms and values. Multi-national operations involving thousands of stabilisation troops and billions of dollars in expenditure are still ongoing in Bosnia-Hercegovina, Kosovo and Macedonia. The crimes committed during the fighting are even now being brought to justice through the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia (ICTY), set up in 1993 at The Hague to address the serious violations of international humanitarian law.

The events in Yugoslavia in the 1990s possess an enigmatic quality. At the heart of the debate is the question of how people who have lived for years in peace can suddenly start killing each other in the most barbaric ways. Surely humanity at the latter end of the twentieth century had evolved beyond such practices, condemned by the international community after World War Two?

The suffering in the Balkans thrust several key international figures into the limelight, whose reputations were largely sullied by either direct involvement in the killings, or their inability to generate a comprehensive solution to the crisis. Overnight, a little-known Serbian leader, Slobodan Milosevic, became a household name across the world. Many historians believe that Milosevic was a central figure in the outbreak of fighting between the different ethnic communities, yet throughout the 1990s the international community was more than willing to negotiate with Milosevic as a legitimate authority rather than as a perpetrator of violence.

Milosevic's Bosnian Serb partners, the flamboyant Radovan Karadzic and his ruthless military compatriot General Ratko Mladic, also face indictments for alleged war



Slobodan Milosevic was the key figure in the collapse of the former Yugoslavia. His extreme form of nationalist policies fractured the years of harmony enjoyed by the various republics and autonomous regions of the former Yugoslavia since the end of World War Two. Milosevic's actions in Croatia, Bosnia-Hercegovina, Kosovo and Serbia have left an enduring legacy of bitterness, war crimes and economic decline. (Rex Features)

crimes, but remain at large at the time of writing. Other regional leaders, such as Franjo Tudjman of Croatia and Alija Izetbegovic of Bosnia-Hercegovina, became equally well known in the global media, but with less notoriety than their Serbian counterparts. For the wider international community, unlike previous crises such as the Gulf War of 1991, no single international leader (until President Bill Clinton in 1995) took the lead concerning policy towards the former Yugoslavia. However, some political analysts have raised serious questions about the role of the British leader John Major and his Foreign Secretary, Douglas Hurd, in ensuring that the European Community did not become too heavily involved at the outset of the fighting. By contrast, John Major's successor, Tony Blair, played a central part in ensuring swift military intervention in Kosovo in 1999.

The international community sent many high-level mediators to try to resolve the conflict in Yugoslavia, all with distinguished political pedigrees. The first was Lord Carrington, and others included eminent statesmen such as Cyrus Vance, Lord Owen, and Thorvald Stoltenberg. Towards the mid-1990s, the key negotiator was the United States Assistant Secretary of State, Richard Holbrooke, who was instrumental in bringing about the Dayton Agreement of



Radovan Karadzic (seated) and Ratko Mladic are the two most wanted men in the Balkans today. As the key figures in the political and military leadership of the Bosnian Serbs, they were instrumental in the perpertration of the siege of Sarajevo, which inflicted misery and death on thousands of people. General Mladic was personally responsible for the murder of approximately 7000 Muslim men and boys when the 'safe area' of Srebrenica fell under his control. (Rex Features)

1995, and played a key role during negotiations over the Kosovo crisis in 1999. Many outstanding soldiers with illustrious careers, such as the Canadian General Lewis MacKenzie, General Philippe Morillon from France, and Britain's General Sir Michael Rose, were sent by their respective nations to take charge on the ground, yet all found the political context in the region very challenging. The twisted political web between the various Yugoslavian factions, allied with the reluctance of outside countries to adopt a more robust peacekeeping posture, left soldiers on the ground brutally exposed, physically and mentally, to the horrors of ethnic conflict. Other military leaders fared better due to their willingness to grasp the Balkan nettle, such as the British generals Sir Rupert Smith and Sir Michael Jackson, and General Wesley Clark from the United States of America.

The role of the United Nations during the collapse of Yugoslavia has been heavily criticised, for allowing genocide to flourish under the guns of its soldiers sent to protect the victims. The most searing example of this neglect was the handing over of the town of Srebrenica to Bosnian Serb soldiers led by General Mladic, by a battalion of Dutch peacekeepers in 1995. Estimates suggest that, despite promising not to harm the remaining residents, Mladic's men killed around 7000 Muslims in a carefully organised massacre. All three Secretary Generals who held office between 1991 and

1999, Javier Perez de Cuellar, Boutros Boutros-Ghali, and Kofi Annan (the head of the UN peacekeeping department during much of this period), have faced intense criticism for their actions or inactions during the bloodletting. Tens of thousands of UN soldiers from all around the world were deployed to the region under the title United Nations Protection Force (UNPROFOR), first to Croatia and then to Bosnia-Hercegovina. By the end of the mid-1990s, the influence of the United Nations began to be supplanted by that of the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation (NATO). Although this organisation appeared to lose its basic purpose with the end of the Cold War, and despite having been in existence since 1949, it fired its first shots in anger in 1994 in the former Yugoslavia. NATO would take a key position in bringing a cessation to the violence in the region, first in Bosnia in 1995, and then in Kosovo in 1999.

Chronology

- **1389** Battle of Kosovo Polje. Much of the Yugoslavian region falls under the influence of the Ottoman Empire.
- 1878 Congress of Berlin. Serbia gains independence.
- **1908** Austria-Hungary annexes Bosnia and Hercegovina.
- 1914 (June) Archduke Franz Ferdinand is assassinated in Sarajevo.(August) Outbreak of World War One.
- **1919** Treaty of Versailles confirms the newly created Kingdom of Serbs, Croats and Slovenes, which also encompasses Bosnia-Hercegovina.
- **1929** The Kingdom of Serbs, Croats and Slovenes is renamed Yugoslavia.
- **1934** King Alexander of Yugoslavia is assassinated.
- 1939 Outbreak of World War Two.
- 1941 (April) Germany invades Yugoslavia.
- 1945 Tito and the communists gain power.
- 1948 Tito falls out with Stalin.
- 1974 Tito's new constitution introduced.
- 1980 Tito dies.
- **1986** The controversial Memorandum from the Serbian Academy of Sciences is issued.
- 1987 Milosevic becomes leader of the Serbian League of Communists.
- 1989 Fall of the Berlin Wall.
- 1990 (January) League of Yugoslav Communists meets. (April) Elections in the republics.
- 1991 (25 June) Slovenia and Croatia declare their independence.
 (27 June) JNA deploys into Slovenia. Fighting breaks out.
 (7 July) Brioni Agreement.
 (July) Fighting breaks out in Croatia.
 (25 Sept) UN arms embargo comes into force.
- **1992** (January) UNPROFOR created. EC recognises Slovenia and Croatia.

(1 March) Bosnian referendum on independence. Fighting breaks out later that month.

(April) USA recognises Croatia, Slovenia and Bosnia-Hercegovina. Serbia and Montenegro join forces to become the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (August) Journalists visit Omarska detention camp.

(October) The no-fly zone is set up. (January) The Vance Owen Peace

- 1993 (January) The Vance Owen Peace Plan is unveiled.
 (May) The International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia (ICTY) at The Hague is created.
 (April) Large-scale fighting breaks out between the Bosniacs and Bosnian Croats.
- 1994 (February) The Markale Market in Sarajevo is mortared.
 (March) NATO warplanes conduct air strikes. Owen-Stoltenberg Plan put forward. Bosniac-Bosnian Croat federation created.
 (April) Gorazde attacked. British Sea Harrier shot down.

(**June**) Contact Group takes the diplomatic lead.

(December) Cessation of Hostilities Agreement (COHA).

- 1995 (June) Scott O'Grady is shot down.
 (July) Srebrenica and Zepa fall. 7000 Muslim men and boys massacred.
 (August) Operation Storm captures the Krajina. The Markale Market is attacked by Bosnian Serb mortars.
 Operation Deliberate Force begins.
 (November) Dayton Agreement.
 (December) Peace signed in Paris.
 Implementation Force (IFOR) deploys into Bosnia-Hercegovina.
- **1996** (December) Stabilisation Force (SFOR) replaces IFOR.

- 1998 Open fighting between Serbian forces and Kosovo Liberation Army. (September) United Nations Security Council Resolution (UNSCR) 1199.
- 1999 (January) Racak massacre.
 (February) Talks at Rambouillet.
 (March) Failure of the Paris Follow-On Talks. Operation Allied Force begins.

(April) Serb Television and Radio in Belgrade attacked by NATO.

(May) Chinese Embassy in Belgrade hit by NATO bombs.

(June) Military-Technical Agreement signed. UNSCR 1244 passed.

2000 (January) Arkan shot dead in Belgrade. (August) Ivan Stambolic disappears. (October) Popular uprising against Milosevic. Milosevic retires from office. Vojislav Kostunica becomes Yugoslav President.

- 2001 (April) Serbian Prime Minister Zoran Djindjic allows Milosevic to be arrested. (June) Milosevic is handed over to
- 2002 (February) The trial of Milosevic for war crimes begins.

the ICTY at The Hague.

2003 (January) Serbian President Milan Milutinovic hands himself in to The Hague to face charges of being a suspected war criminal. (March) Zoran Djindjic is assassinated.

The collapse of Yugoslavia

The build-up to war in the former Yugoslavia in the 1990s is surrounded by myth and misunderstanding. One of these myths suggests that the enmity between the different nationalities had been festering for centuries, and periodically manifesting itself in random ethnic violence. In other words, they had always been killing each other and no amount of outside intervention would have weaned them off this abhorrent preoccupation. Unfortunately, badly informed sociological appraisals of this nature did nothing to halt the violence, but instead offered convenient excuses either to avoid or to limit involvement in the region. These misunderstandings were further reinforced by popular history. Yugoslavia has a unique significance in modern history as the 'Balkan Spark' that led to the outbreak of World War One. In 1914, a Bosnian Serb extremist called Gavrilo Princip managed in a remarkable fashion (given the ineptitude of his initial attempts) to kill Archduke Franz Ferdinand of Austria-Hungary in Sarajevo. Popular notions suggest that this event, in isolation, was the cause of World War One in which 10 million people died. This simplistic idea repeated and regurgitated by schools and universities across war-scarred nations like Britain, France and Germany belied the fact that the event was hijacked by the great powers for their own ends. In other words, even if Princip had failed in his assassination attempt, war was likely to occur given the rigid timetable of the German Schlieffen Plan, the great military strategy to defeat France in a matter of weeks before turning to face the Russians. Nevertheless, myth replaced reality, and the region developed an unwarranted reputation as a place in which violence could spread uncontrollably outwards.

Yugoslavia has always been a complex mix of nations and autonomous areas: in the

1990s it comprised Bosnia-Hercegovina, Croatia, Kosovo, Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia, Slovenia, and Vojvodina. It also plays host to diverse religions - Catholicism, Islam and Orthodox Christianity. In historical terms, however, it is a relatively new entity, born out of the aftermath of World War One. Prior to the Great War, the region was divided between two vast empires: the Ottoman Empire that had conquered much of the region in the fourteenth century (hence the Islamic influence in areas such as Bosnia-Hercegovina), and the Austrian-Hungarian Empire that would gain more territory from the rapidly weakening Ottomans as the years passed. Ironically, World War One sounded the death knell for both hegemonic empires, and the Treaty of Versailles in 1919 confirmed the new Kingdom of Serbs, Croats and Slovenes (renamed Yugoslavia in 1929). However, the events of World War Two probably have more significance for the collapse of Yugoslavia in the 1990s than much older historical causes for conflict in the region. It was inevitable that Hitler and Mussolini would turn their attention to the Balkans, and they finally resorted to the war option in 1941. The Yugoslav response to the attack was fractured along ethnic lines that led quickly to civil war.

In Croatia, whose borders now expanded to encompass much of Bosnia-Hercegovina, the Axis powers supported a minority fascist group called the Ustasha, led by Ante Pavelic, which started to kill non-Croats and those who refused to convert to Catholicism. Around half a million Serbs were killed in this period, many in notorious concentration camps such as Jasenovac. In the rest of Yugoslavia, the two major resistance movements against the Nazi occupiers were the Royalists, or Chetniks, who were led by



LEFT The former Yugoslavia comprised the republics of Bosnia-Hercegovina, Croatia, Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia, Slovenia and the autonomous regions of Kosovo and Vojvodina. It was a complex mix of nationalities that had been held together through most of the Cold War by Tito's iron grip and sheer will. The levels of peace and harmony created by Tito were reflected in the large numbers of Western Europeans who used to take their holidays in the region. By the end of the Cold War, however, a variety of forces both internal and external had begun to destroy Tito's dream.

Serb Colonel Draza Mihailovic representing a government that had fled in exile to London, and the Communists led by Josip Broz Tito. By the end of the bloody civil war, Tito emerged triumphant and led a united Yugoslavia (through sheer force of will) into the post-war period.

Josip Broz Tito

Tito's Yugoslavia developed a unique position in the Cold War. It was clearly a communist state, and yet it held good relations with the United States and Western Europe after Tito fell out with Stalin in 1948 (over Tito's opposition of Soviet policies). It also became a central player in the development of the non-aligned movement during the Cold War, which offered predominantly developing countries an alternative option to siding with one superpower or the other, to avoid being caught up in the intense rivalry. On the surface, Yugoslavia was a thriving region after 1945, with good economic growth and firm political direction from Tito. In reality, the tensions that were exacerbated during World War Two still existed, but circumstances forced them underground. Externally, the mixed relationship with the Soviet Union meant that, should Yugoslavia descend into chaos, the Red Army would in all likelihood roll across the border as it had done in Czechoslovakia in 1968 to restore 'order'. Such an event would result in the loss of all forms of political autonomy for the major political movements in whatever Yugoslav nation. It was simply a 'no-win' situation that everyone recognised, and

Yugoslav defence policy was developed primarily to impede a Soviet occupation. Internally, Tito ruthlessly purged any flowerings of nationalism that threatened the Yugoslav federation. An upsurge of Croatian nationalism in the early 1970s was stamped on by Tito using typically repressive measures, such as troops and secret police. In addition, further nationalistic steam was released from the region by the setting up of the 1974 constitution, which created a revolving presidency, permitting all nations to lead the federation in rotation.

The death of Tito in 1980 did not provoke an immediate disintegration of Yugoslavia. His constitution appeared to continue to work well, and the threat from the Soviet Union, which had just invaded Afghanistan in 1979, was also quite apparent. However, signs of splits became increasingly evident as the Yugoslav economy began to worsen and nationalistic tendencies began to emerge on a more flagrant basis. The most notable of these was an inflammatory paper by the Serbian Academy of Sciences in 1986, claiming that President Tito, whose parents were from Croatia and Slovenia respectively, was prejudiced against Serbs and his new constitution held an anti-Serb bias by giving the regions of Kosovo and Vojvodina (traditionally Serb-controlled areas) autonomous status. The basic thrust of the memorandum (as it was called) suggested that Serbia's economic problems were a direct consequence of these two factors. The preferred solution was the creation of a Greater Serbia. In Kosovo, nationalistic tendencies amongst the Kosovo Albanian majority (90 per cent of the population in the 1980s) were becoming increasingly apparent as a response to the Serb domination of politics, and the presence of Serb police and soldiers in the province. To Serbia, Kosovo held a symbolic and cultural significance of mythical proportions. At the battle of Kosovo Polje in 1389, the Serb Army was defeated by the invading Ottomans. This battle is often cited (usually by Serbian extremists) as the supreme example of how Serbia was fighting to

preserve Christianity in Europe against the invading tide of Islam. That said, despite the symbolism of the battle and, of course, the onset of the modern age, by the 1980s many Serbs were leaving Kosovo in fear of the ethnically fuelled violence and intimidation.

Slobodan Milosevic

It is impossible to ignore the role of Slobodan Milosevic in the disintegration of Yugoslavia in this critical period, and the Kosovo issue was his platform to power in the region. Born in Serbia of Montenegran parents (who, it is alleged, committed suicide), Milosevic studied law before moving into banking. His wife and childhood sweetheart, Dr. Mirjana Markovic, a radical militant Marxist sociology lecturer, is often portrayed as his closest adviser. In the late 1980s, Milosevic, then leader of the Serbian League of Communists, travelled to Kosovo and in front of cheering Serbs and national media declared his support for them. From this moment onwards, Milosevic broke Europe's most important but unwritten political taboo (after the horrors of World War Two) - he played the nationalist card. Overnight, Milosevic, or 'Slobo' as crowds used to refer to him. became a magnet for Serbian aspirations and ambitions. His speeches were popular with the masses, and highly persuasive. Propaganda was an essential part of his strategy, drawing upon Serbian history and the battle of Kosovo Polje to promote his cause. By the end of the 1980s, Milosevic had managed to annul Kosovo's autonomous status and forcibly suppress Kosovo Albanian protests against his actions. In Vojvodina the autonomous region to the north of Serbia - the Serb strong man had already ensured that his own people were already firmly in control of the region.

Milosevic's actions in both Kosovo and Vojvodina caused immense concern amongst the other republics of the Yugoslav federation, most notably Croatia and Slovenia. It is important at this juncture to put the breakdown of the former Yugoslavia

into a wider context in Eastern Europe. The end of the Cold War allowed the former communist-dominated states to stretch out their hands to the European Community (EC) as a means of providing long-term economic stability for their impoverished countries. States such as Slovenia and Croatia quite naturally saw this route as the logical solution to their economic woes, but the question was how to facilitate a new partnership given their status within the Yugoslav federation. It was this issue that dominated the critical meeting of Yugoslav Communists in January 1990. The leaders of Slovenia and Croatia put forward their plan for greater political pluralism and sovereignty for the republics. Milosevic, however, rejected the proposal, as it would diminish Belgrade's grip on the federation. The upshot of the meeting was deadlock. The leaders of Croatia and Slovenia walked out and promised to hold multi-party elections as soon as possible.

Imbalance of power

Elections were held in 1990 across the various republics of Yugoslavia. In Croatia, the nationalist Franjo Tudjman was brought to power. His policies generated immense fear in the half a million Serbs who lived in Croatia (12 per cent of the population) and who had long memories of the killings of non-Croats by Ustasha fascists in the 1940s. In Serbia, Milosevic stole almost \$2 billion from the Federal Bank of Yugoslavia to fund his election campaign, and was brought to power as President. In Slovenia, the reformer and pro-EC Milan Kucan was elected President. In Bosnia-Hercegovina, the republic with the most mixed nationalities (44 per cent Muslim, 31 per cent Serb, 17 per cent Croat, and 5 per cent Yugoslav), Alija Izetbegovic became President. In Macedonia, Kiro Gligorov was elected, and Momir Bulatovic attained power in Montenegro. Sidelined by these electoral results was the old Yugoslav federal structure that still remained active but increasingly became



Franjo Tudjman was a controversial figure in Balkan politics even before the outbreak of the wars in the 1990s. A strong-willed nationalist who had fought with Tito's partisans during World War Two. Tudjman spent much of the Cold War as a noted historian in Croatia. Political analysts have criticised his role as President of Croatia during the Balkan Wars for his refusal to dampen down the dangerous nationalistic tendencies during the onset of the fighting, which contributed a great deal to the subsequent cycle of hatred and violence. (Rex Features)

marginalised or compromised. The Prime Minister of the Yugoslav Federation, Ante Markovic, tried hard to resolve the economic problems but experienced increasing difficulty as the power of the centre diminished. The revolving Presidency essentially collapsed in May 1991, when the Serb President, Borisav Jovic, refused to stand aside for the incoming Croatian President, Stipe Mesic. Other institutions, like the Yugoslav National Army (JNA) were, on paper, organisations designed to protect the federal structure and maintain the balance of power between the different republics. Increasingly, however, a hardcore of senior officers openly sided with the Serb position,

to the point that any stance of neutrality was purely illusory.

The final nail in the coffin of the Yugoslav federation was the issue of independence. On 25 June 1991, Croatia and Slovenia declared their independence. War broke out between the JNA and Slovenia two days later. Despite the Brioni Agreement negotiated by the EC and Yugoslavia on 7 July 1991, which ended the fighting in Slovenia, violence spread throughout Croatia in the following months. In spring 1992, after the declaration of independence by Bosnia-Hercegovina, war broke out in that republic as well. The dream of Yugoslav integrity died over the issue of independence from 1991 to 1992.

International intervention

This brewing crisis in Yugoslavia occurred at a time of great debate in the international community about the issue of intervention in the new post-Cold War era. During the Cold War, a new style of operations had

emerged that became known as 'peacekeeping'. It was, and still remains, a confusing concept. Ostensibly it means to keep the peace, but that is a misconception. In fact, peacekeeping evolved in the 1950s and 1960s as a response by the international community to ensure that proxy wars and rivalry between the two superpowers, usually in developing countries, did not escalate to the point of World War Three. Put simply, peacekeeping was not about stopping the violence (although it was a desirable outcome), but more about trying to minimise the fighting so that protagonists would eventually be happy to set aside their weapons and seek a political solution. Consequently, the role of UN forces in peacekeeping was a delicate one that required a non-threatening posture (light weapons and vehicles), a ruthless adherence to impartiality and, most importantly, the consent of all warring sides to conduct humanitarian operations in the war zone. Peacekeeping forces structured along these lines are not designed for offensive operations (though they can carry them out if necessary) and consequently, if attacked by one side or another, have distinct

vulnerabilities. These sorts of operations fall under the modern military term of peace support operations (PSO) – a sliding scale of options from peacekeeping to peace enforcement, which, as the term suggests, is the robust use of force to achieve peace. In peace enforcement, impartiality and consent are thrown out, and UN forces impose their will on the conflict. Dividing the two ends of the sliding scale is the notional 'Mogadishu Line', named after the infamous incident in Somalia in 1993, when 18 US soldiers were killed. During the 1990s, enormous debate was taking place within the military forces of the United States and their NATO partners as to the nature of the Mogadishu Line. Was it fixed (and once crossed then the peacekeeping operation would have to be abandoned) or was it flexible depending on the situation? If the latter, then UN forces could apply a little force to achieve their objectives and then fall back to a peacekeeping role. This debate was at the forefront of military thinking in Europe and the United States while UN forces were wrestling with the destabilising situation in Yugoslavia from 1991 to 1995.

The uneven contest

Multiple protagonists

One of the most fascinating and yet confusing aspects of the breakdown of the former Yugoslavia was the sheer number of participants involved in the fighting. Usually, wars involve just two major protagonists, but in the Balkans at least thirteen players in the conflict (active and passive to varying degrees) can be clearly identified. These participants included Bosnian Croats, Bosnian Muslims (known as the Bosniacs after 1993) and Bosnian Serbs, Croatians, Croatian Serbs, Kosovans, Macedonians, Montenegrins, Serbians, Slovenians, Vojvodinans, not to mention the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation (NATO) and the United Nations. These collective identities and bodies represented the official parties, but on the ground other organisations, such as non-governmental agencies, and unofficial groups comprising bandits, mercenaries and criminal gangs, added to the complexity of the situation. Overall, it was an extremely tangled web of interests that, for many observers, seemed simply impenetrable.

Prior to the disintegration of the federation into bloody conflict, the most powerful military formation had been the Yugoslav People's Army, commonly referred to as the JNA (Jugoslovenska Narodna Armija). This was a regular formation that possessed the usual components of an air force, navy and ground forces. Supporting the regulars were a territorial reserve formation called the Territorial Defence Force, or TO (Teritorijalna Odbrana). This was a military formation that specialised in guerrilla warfare in the same manner as the wartime partisans. The JNA was stationed throughout Yugoslavia and drew its recruits from all the regions. By the 1990s, it was almost completely self-sufficient in terms of weapons production

across the whole spectrum of military hardware, from rifles to battlefield rockets. Indeed, the Yugoslav weapons industry (producing copies of reliable Soviet types) provided a lucrative source of foreign currency due to their popularity with the international arms trade – a relationship that continues to the present day.

Serbian forces

Serbia was the most powerful nation in the region, and the source of Serbia's military strength stemmed from the covert bias of the JNA officer corps towards Milosevic. Interestingly, in 1991 the Minister of Defence General Kadijevic and his Chief of Staff General Adzic were Serbs from Croatia and Bosnia. In this respect, the JNA had broken with its long-standing tradition of political neutrality and loyalty to the federation rather than to a single nation. This process was evident through various reforms to the structure and disposition of the JNA throughout Yugoslavia at the end of the 1980s, giving the military more autonomy from regional political bodies. In turn, this facilitated the JNA in helping the diverse pockets of Serbs in different parts of Yugoslavia, such as Croatia and Bosnia-Hercegovina, when the fighting broke out. In 1992, the JNA was reorganised into the Army of Yugoslavia, or VJ, and the Army of the Serbian Republic (Bosnia-Hercegovina), otherwise known as the VRS. In addition, another formation - the Armed Forces of the Republic of Serbian Krajina (Croatia), or OS RSK – became active in the same year. Some historians have suggested that these institutional changes to the old JNA were a mask to conceal the direct assistance that it was giving to Serbs in Bosnia-Hercegovina and Croatia. In other words, Milosevic could pretend to international negotiators and politicians that his hands were clean of the bloodshed when in fact he was manipulating events on the ground through these new structures.

On the surface, the regular Serb forces in whatever location and guise bore all the trappings of conventional military forces. Officers wore pressed uniforms and ostensibly were little different from their counterparts in international military formation such as NATO. This façade was perhaps one of the reasons why the international community and their military representatives deployed in the region found it psychologically easier to deal with the Serbs. Put simply, they looked little different from themselves.

Yugoslavian forces

From a purely military perspective, the armed forces of Yugoslavia were a reasonably well-equipped force in every respect. Overall, the JNA had 180,000 active soldiers in 1990, and could double that number by calling up trained reservists in an emergency. It possessed slightly fewer than 2000 tanks by the outbreak of the fighting, of which around 300 were the Yugoslav version of the formidable Soviet T-72, called the M-84, though the vast majority (almost half) were T-54s and T-55s. In addition, reserve stocks included significant quantities of World War Two tanks, including 400 T-34s and 300 M-4 Shermans. Like all modern ground forces, the JNA had built up hundreds of armoured personnel carriers (APCs), from Soviet BTR-40s and 50s to BRDM-2s. Yugoslav artillery units boasted nearly 2000 heavy weapons (both field guns and howitzers) made domestically, in the Soviet Union or in the United States. These powerful units were also supported by 128mm rocket systems and a small number of Frog-7 battlefield missiles. Of equal significance for the future conflict, Yugoslav forces had over 6000 mortars (82mm and 120mm), which were ideal

weapons for light forces harassing or simply terrorising towns and villages. Anti-tank capabilities included recoilless rifles (57mm and 105mm) and Soviet AT-3 Sagger and AT-4 Spigot wire-guided anti-tank missiles. To offer protection from air threats, Yugoslav ground units were equipped with over 3000 anti-aircraft guns that in many cases could be utilised in a ground attack role with their explosive-tipped shells wreaking enormous damage on houses and soft targets.

In the air, the Yugoslav Air Force had taken possession of the latest Soviet MiG-29 Fulcrum aircraft, and was considered a serious threat by NATO forces. However, only a small quantity of these aeroplanes (less than 20) had been purchased at the end of the 1980s. The vast majority of Yugoslav aircraft, just over a hundred in total, were old Soviet MiG-21 Fishbeds which were supplemented by light attack aircraft such as the Orao 2 (armed with US AGM-65 Maverick missiles), Jastreb 2 (powered by Rolls Royce Viper engines) and G-2 Galeb/G-4 Super Galeb. All of these aircraft could carry either 23mm GSh-23 cannon or 12.7mm machine guns as well as some light bombs and cluster munitions. The Yugoslav Air Force's rotary wing assets comprised around a hundred Mi-8 Hip transport helicopters, KA-25/KA-28 anti-submarine helicopters, and attack helicopters such as the Anglo-French Gazelle with anti-tank missiles. Yugoslavia's air defence network was formidable by the early 1990s, and offered both long-range and short-range anti-aircraft protection. Its missiles, both fixed and mobile, included SA-2 Guideline, SA-3 Goa, SA-6 Gainful, SA-7 Grail (Strela 2), and SA-11 Gadfly. These missiles were linked to a series of early warning and air defence radars scattered throughout the federation.

At sea, the Yugoslav Navy was geared along with the rest of armed forces to defend the federation, so its operations were largely of a coastal nature. Its most significant surface assets included a couple of Kotor and Koni class frigates with anti-ship and anti-air capabilities, Osa and Koncar missile boats. For underwater operations, the navy possessed five diesel-electric submarines, made up of the Heroj and Sava class boats with 533mm torpedo tubes. Alongside of an eclectic collection of minesweepers and smaller patrol boats, the Yugoslav Navy possessed a sizeable quantity of large calibre coastal guns and land-based anti-ship missiles.

The covert alliance between the JNA and Serbia meant that the balance of the military advantage remained with Serbian forces throughout the entire conflict. This superiority was sustained, ironically, by the imposition of a UN arms embargo on the region on 25 September 1991. Arms embargoes are one means by which the international community can try to reduce the potential for fighting in a specific area. In the Balkans, the imposition merely allowed the Serbs to continue their brutal policies safe in the knowledge that their enemies did not have the military capabilities to stop them.

Croatian forces

In Croatia, the situation was very difficult for the anti-Serb forces in the early years of the fighting. The Croatian Army, the HV, was almost 100,000 strong with 200 tanks, mainly T-55s but some M-84s as well, and significant quantities of supporting artillery including 203mm guns. Sophisticated anti-tank missiles such as the Sagger and Spigot were also available, along with over 600 medium to heavy calibre (14.5mm to 30mm) machine guns. In addition, Croatian capabilities included anti-aircraft missiles, the largest quantity being 2000 SA-7 man-portable missiles, some 300 aircraft (Mig-21s, Galebs and Jastreb) and Mi-8 helicopters. At sea, Croatia inherited some of the largest bases of the Yugoslav Navy, particularly at Split, with Koncar class and Osa class missile boats, a corvette and numerous smaller vessels.

Other players

Against these forces were arrayed the Serbian Army of the Serbian Krajina, or OS RSK, which was around 40-50,000 strong with 300 tanks (T-34/T-54/T-55) and APCs with 500 artillery guns of various calibres. To the north of Croatia, Slovenia – the catalyst for the fighting – had the smallest armed forces, just 15,000 soldiers with 150 tanks including significant numbers of M-84s and some supporting artillery and helicopters.

In Bosnia-Hercegovina the Serb forces, or VRS, had 50-80,000 soldiers, with around 300 tanks, with the majority being the older T-55 types, and 400 APCs. Most significantly, the Bosnian Serbs had over 800 artillery guns, howitzers and mortars of various calibres. In contrast, the opposition in the form of the Bosniacs and Bosnian Croats were at a significant disadvantage. The more numerous Bosniac forces, or ABiH (Armed Forces of Bosnia-Hercegovina), numbering around 60,000 at the outbreak of the fighting and swelling to well over 100,000, had very little in terms of heavy firepower. By 1993, records suggest that Bosniac forces had just 20 tanks and 30 APCs, with only a few heavy artillery pieces. The Bosnian Croats, or HVO (Croatian Defence Council), possessed around 50,000 soldiers a year after war broke out, with just 50 tanks, mainly T-34 or T-55, and about 500 artillery guns of varying descriptions.

Overall, it was guite clear to all sides that Serbia and Serbian forces in Croatia and Bosnia-Hercegovina were much better equipped in terms of firepower in the form of aircraft, artillery and tanks than their regional foes. Nevertheless, the Serbs did not possess enough manpower or equipment to produce a decisive military outcome across all of the regions of the former Yugoslavia. Instead, they had enough strength to hold on to their initial gains (when it was in their interest to do so) and repel or punish opposition forces that tried to break the status quo. This stark military imbalance provoked immense misery for those civilians of all nationalities caught up in the struggle between the warring sides. The absence of total victory meant that the cycle of violence, chaos and, to some observers, downright savagery continued at a slow pace for several years.

Stumbling into violence

The disintegration of the former Yugoslavia did not occur overnight. Nor did the nationalities of the federation instantaneously declare war on each other. Instead, a series of seemingly innocuous events began to generate a steady momentum of violence that would engulf Bosnia-Hercegovina just a year later. One such catalyst for disorder was the declaration of independence by Slovenia and Croatia on 25 June 1991, which prompted the Yugoslav Prime Minister Ante Markovic (a Croat) to send the JNA to secure the international borders. Some historians suggest that the plan was an immense blunder, since Milosevic and Kucan had already agreed on Slovenia's departure from the Yugoslav federation - after all, the vast majority of the population were Slovenian. Croatia, however, with over 500,000 Serbs, was quite a different matter to Milosevic. Nevertheless, the INA ran into serious difficulties in Slovenia when coming face-to-face with hostile resistance. Surprisingly, the initial deployment of the JNA was just two columns of motorised troops - about 2000 soldiers in total - which perhaps reflected the degree to which the Yugoslav Prime Minister and the JNA leadership had underestimated the magnitude of the task. This level of disorganisation could also be construed as evidence of a lack of preplanning for such operations.

War in Slovenia and the Brioni Agreement

The Slovenian population was well prepared to deal with the threat of the JNA due to a huge anti-JNA propaganda campaign in the country, designed to have an impact not only domestically, but also internationally. Consequently, when the JNA was ordered to move, the Slovenian forces had plans to

neutralise it. Slovenian strategy to deal with the JNA was simple and highly effective: columns of JNA soldiers would be surrounded and prevented from moving backwards or forwards by obstacles such as felled trees. The Slovenians, many of which belonged to the TO organisation, would then open fire on the trapped columns, which were often made up of scared reservists who had no wish to be in Slovenia in the first place. In addition, the INA barracks in Slovenia would be quickly surrounded and the remaining soldiers and their families subjected to intimidation. The fighting between the JNA and Slovenia lasted about a week, in which the majority of dead (just over 40) were JNA soldiers.

The war in Slovenia ended quickly, due to the swift intervention of the international community. Europe, in the form of the European Community (EC) and later as the European Union (EU), saw an opportunity with the crisis in Yugoslavia to assert itself in the new post-Cold War environment. It is easy to forget that events on the European continent since World War Two had been determined and ultimately resolved by an outside power, the United States. The end of the Cold War, however, presented Europe with an opportunity to finally resolve its security problems by itself, and Yugoslavia seemed like an excellent place to start. The Brioni Agreement of 7 July 1991, brokered by the EC, ended the fighting between the JNA and Slovenia. In reality, this success merely papered over the widening cracks in the federal structure, and also gave credence to the notion that diplomacy could end fighting in the former Yugoslavia without recourse to the force option. Sadly, despite the early success with the fighting in Slovenia, neither Europe nor the United Nations demonstrated the will or capability

to resolve the growing conflict in the former Yugoslavia. Tragically, the failure to deal decisively with the Balkan problem at the earliest possible stage condemned thousands of people to brutal deaths not in an instant, but rather at a slow-motion pace.

War spreads to Croatia

The Brioni Agreement ended the fighting in Slovenia, but by this stage violence was beginning to spread in Croatia. Initially, the tensions would manifest themselves through slogans, visual representations of identity such as flags hanging from specific houses or streets, threats and then the use of ethnic beatings, intimidation, broken windows and finally random killings, isolated at first before becoming apparent on a wider scale. Of course, none of this occurred in a vacuum people need to be reminded of reasons to hate and, ultimately, to kill. In Croatia, for the minority Serb population (12 per cent in total) these reasons were provided by local politicians such as Lazar Macura, who was instrumental in the referendum as to whether the Serb pocket in Croatia should join with Serbia itself in political union. Macura's message to the Serbs of the Krajina was broadcast on a regular basis through Radio Knin, which became notorious for its inflammatory and racist programmes, designed to sow the seeds of mistrust between Croats and Serbs who had been living in peace side by side for decades. In fact, these early incidents mirrored how Milosevic himself dominated the Serbian media industry to the extent that people (apart from soldiers serving in Bosnia-Hercegovina and Croatia) had a completely divorced perspective on the havoc that Serbs were inflicting on their neighbours. The violence in Croatia spread not only geographically, but also in magnitude as the hatred between the two sides intensified with each new incident of violence. In addition, Croatian authorities engaged in the highly questionable use of counter-propaganda and quite quickly a cycle of violence was set in motion.

Some Serbian writers suggest that the war in Croatia was started by Croats copying the successful Slovenian tactics in dealing with INA forces. It is true that Croats used blockade tactics against the JNA, but the situation was very different. Firstly, the size of the JNA forces in Croatia was much larger and secondly, unlike Slovenia, many Serb soldiers had a stake in Croatia. Interestingly, in contrast to this position, a significant number of the JNA soldiers stationed in Croatia were in fact Croats. However, Croatian propaganda persuaded many of these officers and soldiers to leave the JNA, which in itself prompted a higher degree of paranoia amongst the officer corps as to whom could they trust. The most surprising feature about the JNA strategy in Croatia was its incoherence in the initial stages as to the actual aims of the mission. Despite this lack of strategic direction, the military superiority of the INA began to assert itself on the Croatian landscape, and vast areas of territory were secured in favour of the indigenous Serb population. Gradually, a pattern of tactics began to emerge on both sides that became universally known as ethnic cleansing: the deliberate destruction of property and life based on ethnic affiliation. Very quickly, the sight of burntout or burning villages became synonymous throughout the international news media with the former Yugoslavia.

International response

International reaction to the burgeoning crisis in the region was centred around the diplomacy of the EC, and various other concerned international organisations such as the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe (CSCE), the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the Western European Union (WEU). The chief EC negotiator, Lord Carrington, and his UN counterpart, the American statesman Cyrus Vance, tried hard to mediate ceasefires but with little success on the ground. Serbia was quickly identified as a source of much of the

fighting, which led to the imposition of sanctions in late 1991 with limited effect. The great debate in international political circles was whether to recognise the independence of Croatia and Slovenia. Britain, France and Lord Carrington argued against such a move, whereas the newly unified Germany, which had long-standing historical ties with Croatia, was in favour of recognising independence. It was an argument that Germany eventually won, and the EC recognised Croatia and Slovenia on 15 January 1992. This was a critical issue, because international recognition of the breakaway republics changed the character and nature of the war raging in Croatia. Far from being an internal dispute or civil war, it now became an interstate conflict with international recognition. The United States was initially slow to follow the EC's lead with regard to the status of these two nations, and by spring 1992 Bosnia-Hercegovina had held its own referendum for independence. On 6 April, the EC recognised Bosnia-Hercegovina's independence, and the next day the United States formally recognised all three former members of the Yugoslav federation.

It is often reported that war broke out in Bosnia-Hercegovina on the day that the EC recognised its independence, though some writers have argued that fighting was apparent in the last week of March. Milosevic took a particularly hard line with regard to Bosnia-Hercegovina, because he was simply not prepared to give up territory in a land in which Serbs comprised 31 per cent of the population, with the other major ethnic groups of Muslims and Croats making up 44 per cent and 17 per cent of the population respectively. By January 1992, a new player had emerged on the ground in the Balkans: the United Nations. In response to a brokered ceasefire, the UN had agreed to set up the United Nations Protection Force (UNPROFOR) in Croatia initially, though it would be extended to include Bosnia-Hercegovina as

The telltale signs of ethnic cleansing – smoke rising from a burning house in the distance. Here, a British Scimitar reconnaissance vehicle armed with a 30mm gun and 7.62mm machine guns watches the events from a safe distance. The mere presence of UN forces would often dampen down the fighting, and such vehicles were more than a match for the warring parties who engaged in such activities. (IWM BOS 56)



the fighting spread to that area. These forces, of which a sizeable component was from Britain (the Cheshire Regiment), were sent to the Balkans with a peacekeeping mandate only.

In other words, their tasks included trying to ensure that the ceasefire continued, escorting aid convoys into besieged areas, and acting as a trusted third-party mediator between the warring sides. A difficult and dangerous job at the best of times, but one to which a whole host of nations contributed, from countries as geographically diverse as Canada, France, Jordan, Russia and Nepal, to name but a few. Britain's initial contribution was limited to just under 2000 soldiers under the title 'Operation Grapple'. However, their biggest assets, apart from troops on the ground, were their white-painted Warrior armoured personnel carriers armed with 30mm Rarden cannon that could hit targets with 'armour piercing

discarding sabot' (APDS) shells at ranges of 2000 yards. Overall, these responses were an attempt by the international community to manage the crisis on the ground in the former Yugoslavia, alongside on-going international diplomacy to somehow bring about a firm resolution to the crisis.

Sadly, these attempts were merely delusions. The fighting and ethnic cleansing continued unabated, and in the summer of 1992 the old horror of concentration camps was revealed to the international community at Omarska. Once more, the spectre of European genocide rose up to face international politicians who, as their forebears had done in the 1930s, refused to fully commit to the force option to decisively resolve the problem on the ground. As such, they condemned millions of people in Bosnia-Hercegovina to a further three years of brutality, loss of dignity, and helplessness.

The destruction of Yugoslavia

Chaos and crime

A source of great debate among historians studying the collapse of Yugoslavia is the degree to which the fighting was planned by the major leaders. One of the most notable and persuasive accounts of this turbulent time, entitled *The Serbian Project and its Adversaries: A Strategy of War Crimes* by Professor James Gow claims that Slobodan Milosevic had devised a 'project' to push the region into war, so that the much stronger Serb forces could ultimately carve out a Greater Serbia in parts of Croatia and Bosnia-Hercegovina. On the face of it, Serbia's spectacular gains in the early part of the fighting would support such a line of argument, but as the International Criminal



Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia (ICTY) has found, it is very difficult to prove categorically that Milosevic's hand was behind the instability. Nevertheless, regardless of the causes of the conflict, the fighting in Yugoslavia stands apart from traditional warfare as a result of the deeply personal nature of the violence. Victims in many cases knew their attackers, either from sharing the same town or having spent time at school together. Neighbours who had lived for years in peace suddenly found themselves drawn, willingly in some respects and unwillingly in others, towards ethnic affiliations. Unlike previous conflicts in recent history, like the Gulf War of 1991, the



boundary between civilians and soldiers became rapidly blurred as the battlefield stretched across cities, towns and villages.

As the chaos spread and law and order broke down, criminals flourished and, indeed, the criminalisation of the fighting in Yugoslavia is one of the main historical features of the conflict. Gangs of bandits and outlaws terrorised people to the same extent as soldiers in uniform. Anyone with a gun could set up roadblocks throughout the region, acting purely on their own initiative. These decentralised and criminalised facets of the wars in the former Yugoslavia made it immensely difficult for outside authorities such as the United Nations to negotiate a lasting ceasefire on the ground. Too many interests were at stake, official and unofficial, in the crime zone of Yugoslavia. Once the civil authorities and law-enforcing capabilities of the nations of Croatia and Bosnia-Hercegovina had been traumatically undermined by the activities of the JNA, then chaos and crime flourished as it would in any country throughout the world in which policemen and centralised authority had disappeared. This is the indelible stain of responsibility that Milosevic will bear as the politician who used the military instruments of the state to repress his fellow Yugoslavs in the most callously indifferent manner.

The war in Croatia

Serb groups and figureheads

There were many interested parties in the fighting in Croatia, but the instigators of the violence were certainly the Serbs. The spread of hatred and violence in the region revolved around figureheads whose backgrounds and

This heavily armed fighter belonged to a private army run by a gangster called 'Juka', operating in the Dobrinja suburb of Sarajevo. Juka lent his services first to the Bosniacs, and then to the Croatian forces when they made him a better offer. The criminalisation of the war in Bosnia-Hercegovina was one of its most notable features, and a small minority of criminals did very well for themselves in the chaos of the fighting. (IVM BOS 208)

appearance bordered on the absurd. A central figure in the rallying of Croatian Serbs to war was Milan Babic, a rotund former dentist who, through his powerbase in Knin, urged Croatian Serbs to resist what he labelled the fascist Ustasha regime of the newly elected Franjo Tudjman. On 25 August 1990, Babic declared the creation of the Autonomous Province of the Serbian Krajina, which inevitably placed the Serbs on a collision course with the democratically elected government of President Tudjman. However, the Serb pocket in Croatia had a very good reason to believe that it could prevail: it benefited enormously from the covert help of the JNA, which from 1990 onwards started to redistribute weapons from territorial units based in Croatia to the Serb population. Consequently, those Croatian police who were loyal to President Tudjman often found themselves completely outgunned when trying to restore order in Serb dominated areas. In addition, Milosevic, though denying to the international community any involvement in the fighting in Croatia, offered direct help politically and militarily to the Croatian Serbs, including air power to either intimidate the Croatian police or to simply bomb parts of Croatia. President Tudjman himself, although draped with the trappings of Croatian nationalism (particularly the famous chequerboard flag), tried hard to avert outright war with the Serbs. Ultimately, however, events on the ground spiralled out of control.

The fighting in Croatia intensified in late spring of 1991 in the region known as Eastern Slavonia on the border with Vojvodina, especially around the town of Vukovar. A key element in the intensification of violence carried out by Serbs in this part of Croatia was the use of extremist groups with strong links to Belgrade. The most notorious of these 'agitators of violence' were Arkan's 'Tigers' and Seselj's 'Chetniks'. Arkan, or Zeljko Raznjatovic, was an internationally renowned bank robber (his 'scores' included robberies in Belgium, Germany, Holland and Sweden) who was known to have links with the Yugoslav secret police. Other aspects of his curriculum vitae included managing the fan club of Belgrade's Red Star football club, known as the 'Delije', whose members became renowned for their thuggish and nationalistic behaviour. Arkan managed to combine the worst aspects of football hooliganism and tribalism with modern military weaponry. It was unsurprising that this fan club provided an excellent recruiting ground for the extraordinarily well-equipped Tigers, who rampaged with the utmost brutality through parts of Croatia and later Bosnia-Hercegovina under Arkan's leadership.

In contrast to the 'thug' background of Arkan, Vojislav Seselj was a radical Serb intellectual with a PhD to boot, who was more than happy to fuel ethnic tensions with irresponsible media statements designed to create fear and unrest. His followers (who included groups like the White Eagles) were modelled closely on the World War Two Chetniks, a Serb nationalist resistance movement, and wore traditional hats with Eagle badges on the front. Both groups and their leaders were primarily criminals intent on pillage and murder in order to create as much chaos as possible. In this respect, they succeeded, and their activities on the eastern borders of Croatia were characterised by these units sweeping through villages and towns. In the case of the attack on the town of Baranja, they openly fought in concert with the JNA, and this combination of strength meant that Eastern Slavonia quickly fell under Serb control. So, too, did other neighbouring districts with the overt support of the JNA, and the town Vukovar acquired an internationally recognised name due to the significant media coverage of the strangling siege until its surrender on 17 November 1991.

The siege of cities

The fighting spread quite quickly to include the regions around the Serb Krajina and famous Croatian cities. In the South, Montenegran troops loyal to the JNA caused international outrage by shelling the coastal city of Dubrovnik, which had been a popular tourist destination for Western Europeans. The siege of Dubrovnik was heavily covered by the international media, drawing attention yet again to the role of the Serbs and their allies in this conflict. Zagreb, too, was subject to regular bombings by the Yugoslav Air Force. In the Krajina, a new figure emerged in the JNA forces as a ruthlessly efficient commander – Colonel (later promoted to General) Ratko Mladic was a Bosnian Serb whose father had been killed by the Ustasha during World War Two.

Mladic was a brash, larger-than-life character, who undoubtedly possessed an astute military mind (when facing weaker opposition), but his name quickly became associated with ethnic cleansing in the areas under his control. Initially, due to the massive imbalance of arms, the Croatian Serbs and the JNA held the military advantage and exploited it to the full. However, Croatia managed to access arms from countries such as Hungary (mainly light weapons and anti-aircraft guns) before the UN embargo (UNSC Resolution 713 on 25 September 1991). Even after the embargo was imposed, Croatia managed to illegally acquire some weapons due to the geography of the country - a long western seaboard, ideal for smugglers. Its borders with countries to the North also had potential for unofficial arms transactions. Consequently, though the Serb pockets in the Krajina and Eastern Slavonia were well established by the start of 1992, the Serbs simply did not have the military capability to take all of Croatia. Nevertheless, the fighting and widespread ethnic cleansing had set the tone for the forthcoming war in Bosnia-Hercegovina, and relations between Serbs and Croats would never be the same again.

The United Nations in the former Yugoslavia

The role of the United Nations in the Balkans has generated immense criticism, due to its inability to quickly stop the fighting. Forty-seven United Nations Security Council Resolutions were passed between April 1992 and October 1993, but none managed to halt the violence decisively. For instance, the famous, or infamous, arms embargo (UNSCR 713) failed to stop the fighting due to the indigenous arms production capacities of the former Yugoslavia, and the ability of some nationalities to smuggle weapons across the borders. A more involved approach by the international community occurred on 21 February 1992, when the first deployments of UN forces were sanctioned by the Security Council with 14,000 troops despatched to Croatia and a controlling headquarters established in the capital of Bosnia-Hercegovina, Sarajevo, to set up United Nations Protected Areas (UNPA). These UNPAs covered the Krajina, Eastern Slavonia and Western Slavonia, and were divided up into four areas called Sectors East, North, South and West.

The situation that faced the first UNPROFOR commander, the Canadian General Lewis MacKenzie, on arrival at Sarajevo just as war had broken out in Bosnia-Hercegovina, typified the fatally delayed response of the UN throughout the wars. The source of the problem was the 'interpretation' of the mandates under which UN forces were operating - in other words, taken as being a purely humanitarian role in which the soldiers in blue helmets could only try and encourage peace, not enforce it. Neither the international community, nor the Secretary General Boutros Boutros-Ghali, wanted to use forceful methods to halt the killing. Britain, France and the United States did not want to accept the political, economic and military costs of becoming involved in a full-scale war in South East Europe. In the latter case, the Secretary General was adamant about explicitly using non-military means to resolve the crisis. Boutros Boutros-Ghali and his special envoy to the region, Yasushi Akashi, were major contributors to this 'soft' approach, which perhaps reflected the minimal consensus within the Security Council towards the wars in the former Yugoslavia. Consequently, these factors and preferred methods, when



LEFT One of the most notorious figures involved in the ethnic cleansing in Croatia and Bosnia-Hercegovina, Arkan (seen here posing in front of his exceptionally well-armed 'Tigers') was a bank robber who developed a mythical status amongst Serbian extremists and an unsavoury reputation in the international community. Arkan was shot dead in Belgrade in 2000. (Rex Features)

BELOW General Lewis MacKenzie, the Canadian officer who commanded the initial deployment of UN forces to Sarajevo, gives a press conference in June 1992. Mackenzie was the first of several high-profile military officers who struggled to control the situation on the ground. (IWM BOS 207) combined with the application of the traditional notions of peacekeeping – consent and impartiality – proved to be nothing short of disastrous for the inhabitants of the Balkans and for the reputation of the United Nations as a whole.

Theatre-based UNPROFOR commanders

As the fighting spread, so too did the UN commitment, swelling to over 30,000 personnel by 1994. Eventually, three



UNPROFOR commands would be set up in Bosnia-Hercegovina, Croatia and Macedonia. Although an overarching UNPROFOR Force Commander was nominally in charge, the international media normally focused on the theatre-based UNPROFOR commander. In this respect, nations sent highly distinguished military leaders to the Balkans, but most were subsumed by the political nature of the task. General Philippe Morillon

	RESTRICTED BULES OF ENGAGEMENT FOR UNPROFOR OPERATIONS IN BH
ARM	ISSUE TO ALL PERSONNEL AUTHORISED TO CARRY S OR DEPLOY VEHICLE MOUNTED, CREW SERVED PONS AND SUPPORT WEAPONS AND AMMUNITION
GEN	ERAL RULES
1. SPECI	TOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO USE FORCE IN SELF DEFENCE, AND TO PROTECT TIC PROPERTY OR INSTALLATIONS SPECIFIED BY YOUR SUPERIOR.
FIREA	N ALL SITUATIONS YOU ARE TO USE THE MINIMUM FORCE NECESSARY. AMS, VEHICLE-MOUNTED, CREW-SERVED WEAPON SYSTEMS AND SUPPORT DNS MUST ONLY BE USED AS A LAST RESORT.
1 OFFIC	YOU ARE TO ACT UNDER THE ORDERS OF THE SENIOR ER/SALOR/SOLDIER/AIRMAN AT THE SCENE
CHA	LLENGING
4	A CHALLENGE MUST BE GIVEN BEFORE OPENING FIRE UNLESS:
	A. TO DO SO WOULD INCREASE THE RISK OF DEATH OR GRAVE INJURY TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PERSON.
	B. YOU OR OTHERS IN THE IMMEDIATE VICINITY ARE UNDER ARMED
5.	YOU ARE TO CHALLENGE IN ENGLISH BY SHOUTING:
	"UNITED NATIONS HALT HANDS UP"
	FOLLOWED BY
	"UNITED NATIONS STOP OR I FIRE"
ORIN	SERBO-CROAT BY SHOUTING:
	"UJEDINJENE NACTJEI STANI ILI PUCAN" (PRONOUNCED PHONETICALLY) "(UYEDINYENE NATSTYEI STANI ILI PUTSANI)"
REPE	AT THE WARNING AS NECESSARY TO ENSURE UNDERSTANDING.
	COCK YOUR WEAPON.
	FIRE WARNING SHOTS IN THE AIR IF THERE IS TIME TO DO SO AND THE USE ETHAL FORCE WOULD ALREADY BE JUSTIFIED.
	RESTRICTED

of France took over the UNPROFOR command in Bosnia-Hercegovina in September 1992, but had little success, and his tenure of command was notable for the assassination of the Deputy Prime Minister of Bosnia-Hercegovina, Hakija Turajlic, who was killed by a Bosnian Serb while surrounded by French soldiers in a French armoured personnel carrier in January 1993. His successor, the Belgian General Francis Briquemont (July 1993-January 1994), became renowned for spending his time largely around his headquarters in Sarajevo. In contrast, Britain sent a series of commanders who achieved varying degrees of success.

The first was General Sir Michael Rose (January 1994–January 1995), an unconventional soldier who had served primarily in the famed British Special Air Service (SAS) for most of his career. The appointment of General Rose was welcomed in many circles because it was widely felt that a tough soldier would resolve the problems. His unorthodox methods, such as walking down Sarajevo's sniper-infested streets without body armour, appeared to restore some confidence on the ground, and initial measures produced a limited ceasefire. Tragically, Bosnians who emulated General Rose (as he encouraged them) would often wind up being shot dead by snipers who may have been reluctant to shoot the UN commander, but fellow citizens were quite another matter. Under Rose, an ardent supporter of the peacekeeping role, 'safe areas' set up to protect Bosnian Muslims from Bosnian Serb forces were tried, along with the



LEFT An actual copy of the 'Orange Card', or the British rules of engagement (ROE), which were issued to every soldier on the ground in Bosnia-Hercegovina and Croatia. Rules of engagement are effectively a form of tactical restraint, to ensure that military organisations do not apply battlefield solutions to delicate UN operations, such as the one that existed in the former Yugoslavia. (IWM BOS 122) ABOVE British UN forces had to construct many of their camps from scratch, starting with tents and then progressing towards more solid structures. In this case, British soldiers are constructing a bomb shelter next to their HQ, which was located in a rented school in Vitez. UN forces were often targeted by heavy shellfire throughout the Balkan Wars, so such shelters were essential. (IWM BOS 92)



collection of heavy weapons. But Rose's inability to deal firmly with the Bosnian Serbs meant that the fighting continued in the region. His successor, the less flamboyant General Sir Rupert Smith (January–December 1995) was perhaps the most successful UN commander throughout the Balkan Wars. Considered by many to be one of the finest minds produced by the British Army in recent years, General Smith realised that the application of overwhelming force was the only means of getting the Serbs to stop 'spoiling', and take negotiations seriously. Under his command, and in concert with NATO forces, the bloodletting in Bosnia-Hercegovina was finally brought to a halt.

The UN soldier experience

Life for soldiers working for UNPROFOR was by no means easy. Dealing with thousands of refugees who were ethnically cleansed from all sides, Bosniacs, Bosnian Croats and Serbs, was especially difficult. At times, UN soldiers witnessed the process of ethnic cleansing as warring parties torched villages and

LEFT A somewhat drawn General Sir Michael Rose during a press conference in Sarajevo in 1994, when he threatened to conduct air strikes against Bosnian Serb positions around Sarajevo if they did not hand over their heavy weapons to designated collection points. (IVVM BOS 215)

BELOW Streams of refugees became a hallmark of the fighting in the Balkan Wars, as people fled the ethnic cleansing. Dealing with large groups of displaced people was one of the major tasks of the UNHCR, UN blue berets, and the various NGOs operating in the region. The flight of refugees from one area into another placed enormous demands on the local infrastructure and contributed to the rising tensions between ethnic groups. (IWM BOS 78)

destroyed normality. In Bosnia-Hercegovina alone millions of people were displaced by the fighting, and makeshift refugee camps would quickly descend into unhygienic and overcrowded areas full of hungry and desperate people. UN soldiers would also have to deal with the aftermath of massacres in which bodies of men, women and children would be found either shot. stabbed with knives, or in some cases burnt alive. Sometimes people would be killed in front of UN troops, who would stand by helplessly as the brutality and slaughter escalated. In addition, these deployments were not risk-free for the UN. Between 1992 and 1995, UN personnel were taken hostage, wounded, and in some cases killed (167 soldiers in total), either deliberately by snipers or caught in the open by mortars or artillery.

Occasionally, UN bases were deliberately targeted by the warring sides, not by just one or two shells but by dozens at a time. Apart from these physical dangers, UN soldiers also faced immense psychological trauma. For many European troops wearing blue helmets in the former Yugoslavia, the sight of people who looked just like them, engaging in such inhuman acts, was deeply disturbing.





The harsh Balkan winter was a difficult environment for patrolling UN forces. A well-wrapped British soldier surveys the landscape with his Light Support Weapon (a version of the SA80 assault rifle) from the back of an armoured personnel carrier in the spring of 1993. Such conditions were highly dangerous, with UN vehicles sliding off roads while escorting aid convoys, and the constant danger facing UN forces that their weapons would freeze up in an emergency. (IWM BOS 65) Nobody who saw at first hand the horrors of ethnic warfare in this region of Europe remained untouched in some way, whether realising it at the time, or when they returned home after their tour of duty was over.

All parties who became involved in the fighting in the former Yugoslavia, whether actively or passively, bear a great deal of



responsibility for their actions or inactions and in this respect, the role of the United Nations can be heavily criticised despite the personal bravery of the soldiers on the ground trying to achieve the impossible. Undoubtedly, the thousands of humanitarian aid convoys escorted by the UN saved the lives of millions of people, but without decisive political and military action by the most powerful nations in the world to stop the fighting, these great deeds merely treated the symptoms of war, instead of tackling the root causes.

Bosnia-Hercegovina in flames

For a time it seemed that Bosnia-Hercegovina would escape the madness that had engulfed Croatia, as it contained the most mixed proportion of nationalities in the entire federation. Indeed, prior to the outbreak of war, Bosnia-Hercegovina was probably the most likely place in the Balkans where people would label themselves as 'Yugoslavs'. However, these cosmopolitan notions would be quickly shattered by the political ambitions and errors of key leaders, both regionally and internationally. It is well documented that Milosevic and Tudjman held a meeting in March 1991 at Karadjordjevo in Vojvodina, which included a discussion on the partition of Bosnia-Hercegovina between Croatia and Serbia, leaving the Bosniacs, who comprised the largest ethnic group in the country, with very little territory. Under this scheme, a Greater Croatia and a Greater Serbia would be carved out of what was formerly known as Bosnia-Hercegovina. In addition, as in Croatia, the JNA secretly armed the Bosnian Serbs from 1990 onwards, through a project known only by the letters 'RAM'.

The catalyst for war in Bosnia-Hercegovina can be traced to the international recognition of Croatia and Slovenia. Prior to this announcement, Bosnia-Hercegovena had tried hard to chart a middle course between Croatia's desire for independence, and Serbian demands for the federation to remain intact.

Despite making strenuous protests to Helmut Kohl of Germany about the dangers of German foreign policy (in recognising the breakaway nations), the Bosniac President Izetbegovic suddenly decided to hold a referendum on independence on 1 March 1992, and it is perhaps no surprise that fighting began just a few weeks later.


LEFT The President of Bosnia-Hercegovina, Alija Izetbegovic, giving a press conference in 1995. In many ways, Izetbegovic was a reluctant figurehead of Bosniac democracy, thrust into the limelight and squeezed into an impossible position by circumstances beyond his control. Izetbegovic governed a state that did not possess the resources to defend itself, and was forced to rely on the international community to stop the fighting. (IWM BOS 216)

Radovan Karadzic and Bosnian Serb tactics

Unlike Croatia in the first weeks of the war. Serbian strategy appeared more coherent and Serb forces made rapid progress in acquiring territory in Bosnia-Hercegovina. Perhaps the lessons of the fighting in the previous months had been absorbed, but the opposition was also substantially weaker. The Bosnian Serb leadership, like their counterpart in the Krajina, was made up of outlandish characters centred on the old tourist resort of Pale. The leader of the Bosnian Serbs was Radovan Karadzic, a man whose most noticeable feature was his unruly mane of white hair. His professional background, for a politician whose forces engaged in the most brutal ethnic cleansing, was surprising - he was a psychiatrist in Sarajevo prior to the outbreak of war. Under Karadzic's political guidance, Bosnian Serb forces (who would eventually fall under the control of the irrepressible General Ratko Mladic) placed Sarajevo under a state of siege and terror for several years. Bosnian Serb tactics in the early stages of the fighting were simple and devastatingly effective in creating fear amongst millions of Bosniacs. Gangs of thugs, led by the likes of the Tigers and the White Eagles, would enter villages and towns, shooting people if necessary, to gain complete control of the area. Other forces would round up men to be detained in camps and jails (a few months later in the war, mass shootings were not uncommon) while the women and children would be separated from them. The most notorious of these camps was at Omarska, which contained approximately 5000 detainees in the most appalling conditions. Often, people would be carrying out their daily lives, being

at work, children at school, when the criminal gangs would just roll into their lives and normality would be turned upside down. Literally within minutes, a lifetime of work, an investment in a career, a marriage and a home would be rendered null and void by Bosnian Serb forces encouraged to murder, loot and rape by people like Milosevic and Karadzic, who seemed completely detached from the misery. Why did neighbour turn so quickly on neighbour? In part, due to the residual memory of the horrific events of World War Two, but to a greater extent due to the unhealthy levels of propaganda spread by the Serbian political leadership about the Bosniacs and Bosnian Croats.

Bosniac political and military unpreparedness

Unlike the Bosnian Serbs, the Bosniacs were completely unprepared for the war, and this factor contributed to the rapid success of the Bosnian Serbs, whose area of territory extended to 70 per cent of Bosnia-Hercegovina and became known as Republika Srpska. The Bosniac President Izetbegovic, a lawyer by training and an Islamic scholar, was renowned for having written a thesis in 1973 which his enemies claimed called for an Islamic state to be established. This document, and Izetbegovic's radical views at the time, led to his imprisonment by the communist authorities on multiple occasions. At the start of the conflict, Izetbegovic was detained briefly by the JNA after returning from an international conference, and for much of the war he often isolated himself in Sarajevo. An intensely private man, Izetbegovic clearly struggled with the pressures of a war that some commentators claim was partly caused by his own actions with the referendum. Some of his other decisions, such as inviting Mujahideen to fight alongside his own forces, were also deeply questionable, particularly considering that the Bosnian Muslims were converted Slavs and practiced a very moderate form of Islam. Many of the radical Islamic fighters had a totally different outlook, one that moderate Muslims

throughout the Islamic world considered extremist in every respect. Their presence on the battlefield merely added weight to the Serb propaganda that the Bosniacs were trying to set up a radical Islamic state. Likewise, Izetbegovic's subordinate, Vice-President Ejup Ganic, appeared completely out of his depth with the situation, manifesting itself when he broke down emotionally while giving a live radio interview, and some UN officials found him hard to take seriously. Only Haris Silajdzic, the Foreign Minister and later Prime Minister, was effective in getting across the plight of the Bosniacs to the outside world. These political weaknesses compounded the military unpreparedness of the Bosniacs in general, and the remaining 'Yugoslavs' in areas like Sarajevo. Consequently, much of the organisation of the fighting and defence was decentralised, and carried out to a significant extent by the criminal elements of Bosnia-Hercegovina. This would create other problems when the government eventually tried to reassert control at a later stage in the war. In one area, the so called Bihac pocket, the government completely lost control to an enterprising businessman called Fikret Abdic, who managed to create an autonomous region by doing deals with all sides. In addition, Bosniac forces engaged in the same practices as their Bosnian Serbian counterparts when dealing with civilians and prisoners, and the Mujahideen gained an unsavoury reputation for ruthlessness.

The Bosnian Croat position

The Bosnian Croats were led eventually by Mate Boban (previously a supermarket manager), whose war aims were closely linked with Tudjman's vision to join the Bosnian Croatian territory (about 30 per cent of Bosnia-Hercegovina) with Croatia itself. To this end, on 5 July 1992 Boban declared the new Croat Union of Herceg-Bosna. This goal was quite different to the Bosniacs', who wanted to maintain the ethnic diversity of the nation under its traditional borders. Initially, the Bosnian Croats and Bosniacs formed a loose coalition against the Bosnian

Serbs, but given that their war aims were quite different, it was inevitable that the union would break down. That said, the Bosnian Croat position was equally divided between Boban and the military branch (HOS) of the extreme right wing Croatian Party of Rights (HSP), which demanded more territory in Bosnia-Hercegovina. The leader of the HOS in western Hercegovina, Blaz Kraljevic, who had acquired an Australian accent having spent years working in that country, was shot to pieces in his car by Croatian Military Police (allegedly accidentally) using an anti-aircraft gun. Kraljevic's death had the effect of removing a competing power base from the Bosnian Croat political leadership. Nevertheless, the strategy and situation of the Bosnian Croats was quite different to their Bosniac allies. Firstly, much of their territory bordered Croatia, and a great deal of the fighting was done by the Croatian Army (HV), despite claims that it was just the Bosnian Croats (HVO) carrying out the operations. Like their Bosnian Serb counterparts, Bosnian Croats were not immune to practising ethnic cleansing, looting, and the widespread rape of captured women.

The failure of international diplomacy

The inability of the international community to halt the bloodshed in the Balkans must rank as one of the most damning indictments of the structures and mechanisms of the world order since the Munich Agreement of 1938. The European Community initially sent military monitors (ECMM) to try to verify who the aggressors were, and appointed high-level diplomats such as Lord Carrington and later Lord Owen to try to resolve the crises.

The Vance Owen Peace Plan

Lord Owen and his UN counterpart, Cyrus Vance, put together a controversial proposal to end the fighting in Bosnia-Hercegovina in late 1992, called the Vance Owen Peace Plan (VOPP).

This plan basically divided the country into ten areas, or cantons, along ethnic lines, with control being shared by all parties (with the exception of Sarajevo). In the bulk of the literature on the collapse of the former Yugoslavia, the VOPP is universally criticised, though a few notable writers, like Misha Glenny, do emphasise its merits. Part of the problem with the VOPP was that, despite forcing the Serbs to hand back about 25 per cent of their annexed territory, it was also a recognition that the situation had fundamentally changed in the country, and the new political reality needed to be addressed. For some, this was merely rewarding Bosnian Serb and Serbian aggression and dealing with their leaders as legitimate parties in a dispute, rather than as criminals who had created the chaos in the first place.

In this respect, international diplomacy was morally bankrupt in its willingness to negotiate with people who actively encouraged and armed people to murder, loot and rape. But given that the international community was unwilling to use decisive force to stop the fighting, then clearly accommodation with all of the parties was viewed as the only way forward.

The three parties perceived the VOPP in very different ways. The Bosnian Croats were happy with the scheme, as it fulfilled most of their ambitions. In contrast, the Bosniacs stood to lose the most from this acceptance

Lord Owen (left) and Cyrus Vance presenting their peace plan to the United Nations in 1993. Both were hugely experienced politicians in their own right, but neither managed to achieve a decisive diplomatic solution to the unfolding tragedy in the former Yugoslavia. (Rex Features)





The Serbs made spectacular territorial gains during the Balkan Wars, from setting up the Krajina and seizing the key provinces of Eastern and Western Slavonia in Croatia, to grasping vast swathes of land in Bosnia-Hercegovina. These gains, however, merely reflected the huge disparities in heavy weapons between the Serbs and the other nationalities. The Bosniacs (the largest ethnic group in Bosnia-Hercegovina prior to the outbreak of war) were pressed into a very small area of land and many critical parts (most notably the capital, Sarajevo) were completely cut off and surrounded by hostile forces. In addition, the Bosnian Croats were largely confined to a small area in the south-west of Bosnia-Hercegovina, with odd pockets around or to the north of Sarajevo. Getting in and out of this region was extremely difficult due to this irregular jigsaw pattern of territorial domination.

of the situation on the ground, and the Bosnian Serbs also lost key territory that they had taken through force of arms. Unfortunately, however, when the Bosnian Croats tried to implement the VOPP in their areas the following year, it pushed the already fragile relationship with their allies to breaking point, and war broke out between them. In the final analysis, the Vance Owen Peace Plan was a diplomatic disaster.

Conflict of international aims

A major source of the disharmony within the international community was the conflict of aims between the major world powers in dealing with the Balkan problem. The British, who held the EU Presidency at a critical time during the first year of the war, were most reluctant to get heavily involved in a military sense.



From late 1992 onwards, the Vance Owen Peace Plan was an attempt to end the fighting by broadly accepting the new reality on the ground in Bosnia-Hercegovina. As such, it tried to divide the country into cantons along ethnic lines. However, the plan actually exacerbated tensions between the loose alliance of the Bosniacs and the Bosnian Croats, to the extent that it is viewed as a major contributory factor in the outbreak of the civil war between these two parties the following year.

The British position that was strongly held by Prime Minister John Major and his Foreign Secretary Douglas Hurd placed a heavy emphasis on peacekeeping forces. Their rejection of a forceful response in the early years of the crises led some writers to condemn their policies as being a significant contributory factor in the continuation of the slaughter, by virtue of the fact that their diplomacy made it difficult for other European nations and NATO to take more decisive action.

The shifting position of the United States was another major element in the failure of the international order to stop the disintegration of the former Yugoslavia. Unfortunately, as events unfolded in the Balkans between 1990 and 1991, the attention of the United States was firmly on the Middle East and the outbreak of the Gulf War. Furthermore, the run-up to the presidential election between 1991 and 1992 meant that America's focus was for a critical time on the domestic agenda. In addition, President George Bush's key diplomats in relation to the area - the US ambassador to Yugoslavia, Walter Zimmermann, and Lawrence Eagleburger of the State Department – were slow to push for a firm



British Foreign Secretary Douglas Hurd (centre left) and President Alija Izetbegovic of Bosnia-Hercegovina (centre right). In reality, despite the close physical proximity of the men, Douglas Hurd has emerged in the historical literature as a diplomat who was reluctant to allow Britain to become too heavily involved in the region at its moment of need. (Rex Features)

line against Milosevic until 1992, and consequently the US signals to the region and all sides were mixed at best. Only President Clinton, and the appointment of the US diplomat Richard Holbrooke in 1995, brought about a resolution to the problem, and even then it took two years for US strategy to become truly effective.

The Bosniac-Croat Civil War 1993–94

The outbreak of the Bosniac-Croat Civil War in the spring of 1993 added a further level of complexity to the situation in Bosnia-Hercegovina. The issue of Bosniac refugees fleeing southwards away from the Bosnian Serb onslaught around Banja Luka, towards Bosnian Croat areas such as Travnik, had been causing tensions between the two sides long before sporadic fighting broke out in January 1993.

Croatia was supporting nearly 300,000 refugees during this period, and inevitably this social burden, allied with a desire by the Bosnian Croats to start asserting their political ambitions in areas that had been considered part of Bosnia-Hercegovina, created a highly flammable situation. For the British contingent of UNPROFOR, the fighting around Gornji Vakuf between the Croats and the Bosniacs led to their first fatality. Lance-Corporal Wayne Edwards was shot through the right cheek while driving a Warrior vehicle that was escorting an ambulance into Gornji Vakuf. His death was not an accident – several of the white-painted Warriors had been hit by single shots just prior to the fatal shot. Clearly the UN forces had been deliberately targeted.

For a few months the fighting died down and simmered, before breaking out on a much larger scale in April 1993. Most historians are in agreement that the violent kidnapping of the local Bosnian Croat commander, Zivko Totic, in Zenica on 15 April was the cause of the renewed outbreak of violence. Totic's car was held up, and four of his bodyguards, along with a pedestrian, were shot dead on the spot before Totic was bundled into another vehicle and driven away. Fighting then broke out on a large scale in Vitez. The conflict between the erstwhile allies concentrated initially around the strategically significant Lasva valley in central Bosnia, which contained valuable munitions factories including Vitez and Travnik. The designated capital of the Bosnian-Croat entity, Mostar, which demographically contained more Bosniacs than Croats prior to the fighting, became a household name across the world due to the amount of media coverage of the bloody fighting between the two sides. Interestingly, the Bosnian Croats came out of the fighting in a worse state, not only in terms of international reputation, but also in a military sense.

The massacre at Ahmici

Several incidents condemned the Croatian forces in the eyes of the world community. The first was the massacre of Bosniac civilians in the village of Ahmici, discovered by British UN forces on 22 April 1993. A few days earlier, the village had been attacked by a special Croatian anti-terrorist unit called the 'Jokers', along with some military policemen, about 75 men in total.

A recent account of this attack has tried to justify it as a deliberate spoiling assault, to pre-empt Muslim forces from launching an offensive. However, this legitimisation of the violence is still undermined by the horrific events in the village. People were systematically dragged out of their houses. First the men were shot, then the male children, and finally the females. The Croatian forces had located snipers on the edges of the village so that anyone trying to escape would be cut down before they reached safety. Every living thing, from humans to pets, was killed by the Croatian forces that morning. After the slaughter, the bodies were thrown into the houses and set alight with petrol. The British soldiers found

104 bodies in the remains of the houses, many of them burnt beyond recognition, and strewn across the village were the corpses of bloated animals, from horses to dogs. It was a ghastly scene, and one of the worst examples of ethnic cleansing in the fighting.

The Convoy of Joy and the Mostar bridge

A few months late, in June, Croatian forces attacked a humanitarian aid convoy known as the 'Convoy of Joy', which was taking much-needed supplies to starving Bosniacs. Under the gaze of UN forces, the Croats murdered several of the truck drivers and then Croatian refugees started to loot the vehicles whilst being filmed by the international media. Later that year, on 9 November, Croatian forces also deliberately targeted the medieval bridge in Mostar and destroyed it with heavy artillery.

For a continent that had suffered the horrors of deliberate cultural bombing under Hitler's Third Reich, the destruction of the bridge at Mostar represented a new low in Europe's history. Ethnic cleansing and murder were committed by both sides in the civil war, but these notable incidents gained the most international news coverage, which ultimately swung world opinion against the Croatians.

Co-operation between enemies

Militarily speaking, the war with the Bosniacs was a catastrophe for the Bosnian Croats. They lost enormous amounts of territory in Central Bosnia, such as the capture of Travnik in early June, which cost them an estimated 250 dead and created some 15,000 refugees. This pattern continued south of Travnik, as the Bosnian Croats lost village after village to the advancing Bosniac forces, creating tens of thousands of refugees that fled either to Croatia or across into Serb-controlled areas where the men would be put in camps. The Bosnian Serbs were clearly the winners in the fighting, and were happy to help their neighbours kill each other. It has been reported that Serb artillery fired in support of the Bosniac forces around Gornji Vakuf

A typical example of the armed forces of the warring sides. Here Croatian HVO soldiers greet each other outside Mostar in June 1992, after forcing the Serbs to evacuate the town. This was a time when the Bosniacs and the Croats were still in alliance, and had combined forces to launch a successful offensive against the Serbs. (IWM BOS 230)

when they discovered that the latter had run out of ammunition. Deals would be struck by local commanders on different sides regarding heavy artillery support. These unhealthy levels of cooperation between enemies, who would in a heartbeat try to kill each other, mystified outside observers, who were quick to forget that these people had been neighbours long before the fighting.

The war between the two sides ended in late February 1994. Enormous diplomatic pressure from the United States, in combination with the weakened state of both protagonists in Bosnia-Hercegovina, resulted in the formation of a new Bosniac-Croat Federation.

Safe areas

With the general unwillingness of some senior UN commanders to interpret the peacekeeping mandate in a more robust fashion, it was immensely difficult to persuade the three sides to stop fighting. The nub of the problem was how to halt the use of heavy weapons. This was eventually resolved by the gradual involvement of NATO in the region.

NATO involvement

In July 1992, NATO members agreed that the alliance could be used for operations in the Balkans, and by October NATO was enforcing the 'no-fly zone' over Bosnia-Hercegovina. After all, Serbia possessed a significant quantity of multi-role aircraft as well as helicopters, and this was a means of preventing them from being used in a punitive sense against the Croats and the Bosniacs. In February 1994, the organisation created in 1949 to protect Western Europe against the Soviet Union



fired its first shots in anger, when NATO warplanes shot down four Serb aircraft violating the no-fly zone over Banja Luka. In the summer of the following year, an American plane patrolling over Bihac was



shot down by Serb forces, and its pilot, Scott O'Grady, spent a week hiding from the pursuing Serb forces before being rescued by the US military. The success of the air patrols was mixed at best, and official sources reveal that over 400 violations of the no-fly zone occurred between 1992 and 1993 by all three sides. At sea off the Adriatic coast, NATO warships were engaged in Operation Sharp Guard to enforce the UN arms embargo on



the former Yugoslavia by intercepting arms smugglers.

Dual-track international policy

To try to stop the horrors that were occurring on a daily basis on the ground, the international community adopted a dualtrack policy that combined legal and military options. In order to prosecute those who had been involved in the ethnic cleansing, and to deter others who might consider engaging in such activities, a war crimes tribunal was set up at The Hague. The remit of this body was to gather evidence on alleged war criminals in order to bring them to trial. In Bosnia-Hercegovina from early 1993 onwards, the UN created the six so-called 'safe areas' around Bihac, Gorazde, Srebrenica, Sarajevo, Tuzla and Zepa, to protect the Muslims from the advancing Bosnian Serb forces. In addition, the adoption of a robust resolution (UNSCR 836) allowed UNPROFOR to enforce the mandate with 'all necessary measures' – including air



shoulder-launched missiles, to rescue injured civilians or

UN personnel. (IWM BOS 86)

measure by the international community to draw a line in the sand concerning Serbian aggression in Bosnia-Hercegovina. Any infringement of a safe area would incur a NATO military response using air power. These UN-sanctioned missions were given the title 'Blue Sword' close air support strikes. On paper, this set-up should have worked to deter, if not halt, any aggression by Bosnian Serb forces towards the safe areas, but in fact it failed miserably for a number of reasons. The command and control element of the strikes was elaborate, and relied on a dual key approach whereby NATO needed UN approval to initiate air strikes. In theory, this arrangement required several critical steps to be taken before orders could be translated into action -the verification of a Bosnian Serb violation of a safe area would be passed to the UN commander in Sarajevo, who would make a judgement call as to whether it merited a military response. If so, a request would be placed with the UN's Special Representative Akashi, who would consult with the UN Headquarters and Boutros-Ghali. If all parties agreed then the request would be passed to the NATO chain of command, and the bombing missions initiated. At best this was convoluted, at worst it offered too many opportunities for interested parties to delay or even prevent swift action. Official figures suggest that the vast majority of UN fatalities (117 in total) occurred in and around these 'safe' areas, in addition to up to 20,000 civilian deaths.

Gorazde

Events in Gorazde in April 1994 can be viewed as a case study of the failure of the safe areas policy. When the Bosnian Serbs starting attacking the town the UN response was extremely limited – just a couple of air strikes were attempted. General Sir Michael Rose actually sent a team of British Special

strikes – though the words 'protect' and 'defend' were deliberately left out of this resolution. After the passing of the resolution, the UN Secretariat recommended that an extra 32,000 soldiers would be needed to make the 'safe area' policy work. However, the British, in particular, were strongly opposed to this new proposal. A French plan that called for a lighter option of 5000 troops was the 'preferred' approach. Like the no-fly zone, this represented a concrete yet substantially watered-down



The medieval and internationally renowned Bridge of Unity in Mostar in 1992, before it was destroyed by Croatian artillery shells in late 1993. The destruction of the bridge seriously damaged Croatia's international reputation, and reminded the world of the horrors of cultural vandalism. (IWM BOS 241)

Forces to the town, to verify reports by a party of United Nations Military Observers (UNMO) that the safe area was being violated. The Special Forces suffered a fatality (Corporal Fergus Rennie, killed deliberately by the Bosnian Serbs) and another soldier seriously wounded while they were trying to gather accurate information. Despite radioing to Sarajevo about the desperate situation, the UN command staff refused to believe them. One historian suggests that General Rose had an interest in downplaying the reports of both the UNMOs and his own Special Forces team that Gorazde was about to fall to the Bosnian Serbs, as it contradicted his own personal belief that the Bosniacs had concocted the whole thing to bring the international community into the war. This entire incident was further recorded in the memoirs of the Royal Navy pilot Lt Nick Richardson, whose Sea Harrier was shot

down over Gorazde whilst trying to carry out an air strike, and who managed to join the SAS team in the town. Other accounts suggest that, despite persuading their headquarters in Sarajevo that the safe area was about to fall, the Special Forces were advised to surrender to the Bosnian Serbs, with the hope that in a few months the UN would get them released. The SAS and Lt Richardson very sensibly declined this option, and eventually managed to persuade General Rose to arrange a helicopter extraction once they had crossed Bosnian Serb lines at night, carrying their wounded colleague. A more robust response at Gorazde could possibly have stopped the Bosnian Serb aggression in its tracks, and then perhaps a negotiated settlement could have been achieved in 1994, instead of a year later.

Bihac

In the Bihac pocket, another safe area, a bizarre situation developed from late 1993 onwards. Bosniac forces loyal to the government started fighting with forces loyal to the rogue Bosniac businessman Fikret



Abdic. By August 1994, the government forces had won the internal battle and wrested control of Bihac from Abdic, who fled into Croatia. Two months later, it was the Bosniacs who initiated hostilities with the Bosnian Serbs, as the Fifth Corps launched an all-out assault southwards from Bihac and briefly recaptured a vast expanse of territory. This attack put UNPROFOR and the international community in a very difficult position, especially when the Bosnian Serbs initiated a successful counter-attack in November, which quickly pushed the Bosniacs back into the Bihac pocket. The problem for the UN was how to stop the Bosnian Serbs from crossing into the safe area, and ultimately the response was, once

The initial deployment of UN forces in Croatia, known as UNPROFOR I, was concentrated in the so-called United Nations Protected Areas (UNPA), which were divided into four sectors: North, South, East and West. In Bosnia-Hercegovina, the UN forces were called UNPROFOR 2, and spread out between the major contributing forces, with the Spanish contingent based in Mostar in the south, and the British in Vitez and Tuzla (central and eastern Bosnia) with a controlling headquarters in Kiseljak. The sizes of the forces varied enormously depending on the location and the contingent. In Gornji Vakuf, for example, the British had a company-size unit (just over 100 troops) based in the town. Other forces, like the Canadians and the French, controlled Sarajevo - especially the airport in the latter case, with a small group of Dutch peacekeepers being deployed to Srebrenica. The overall Force Commander in control of both UNPROFOR I and 2 was actually based in Zagreb at the main UN HQ.



A British Harrier GR7 being prepared for take-off from its base in Germany, in order to fly to Bosnia for operations in concert with the UN effort in 1993. This warplane was specially geared for air-to-ground and battlefield support operations, and possessed a unique vertical/short take off and landing (VSTOL) capability that meant that it did not require a standard military runway. (IWM BOS 151) more, very limited air strikes. The crisis over Bihac revealed the deep divisions within the UN regarding how to deal with the Bosnian Serbs. Many members called for a punitive campaign that would stop them completely, but in order for NATO to achieve this aim Bosnian Serb air defences would have to be neutralised, and General Rose (and many contributing nations to the peacekeeping effort) was deeply opposed to UNPROFOR being dragged into a war by these NATO actions. Consequently, these divisions, and the inability of the limited air strikes to have any serious effect, merely encouraged the Bosnian Serb forces to keep pursuing their political objectives by military means.

By spring 1995, the situation was rapidly breaking down on the ground in Bosnia-Hercegovina, especially with the failure of General Rose's much-vaunted Cessation of Hostilities Agreement (COHA), signed in December 1994 between the Bosniacs and the Bosnian Serbs. Interestingly, the appointment of a new UNPROFOR commander, General Rupert Smith, created even more divisions within the UN hierarchy in the former Yugoslavia, due to Smith's desire for a much stronger military response to Bosnian Serb aggression. This view contrasted sharply with those of the UN's Special Representative, Yasushi Akashi, and the overall Force Commander, General Bernard Janvier, who were reluctant to allow UN forces to be dragged into the conflict. Consequently, the limited air strike option merely encouraged the Bosnian Serbs to adopt a new tactic of taking UN forces hostage as human shields. By 26 May, approximately 400 UN personnel were either taken hostage or prevented from moving by Bosnian Serb forces, and in one incident a day later, two French UN soldiers were killed trying to recapture a UN position that had been seized by Bosnian Serb forces. Eventually, through intense diplomatic negotiations, the hostages were released, but the lesson was quite clear that, in the light of the UN inability to take decisive action against the Bosnian Serb forces, all the lightly armed UN units scattered throughout the 'safe areas' were seriously vulnerable to becoming hostages. The limited numbers of UN forces in these areas also meant that they were often heavily outnumbered. Put simply, the soldiers on the ground in the former Yugoslavia had been put in an impossible position by squabbling diplomats (and their

national interests), a situation that would become painfully obvious in the summer.

Srebrenica

By June 1995, the situation had badly deteriorated and the fighting had substantially intensified, so much so that the UN was seriously considering the option of withdrawal of its peacekeeping forces from the region. Other options included bolstering the UN forces with a 'rapid reaction force or theatre reserve', which was eventually deployed. However, great divisions existed about how these additional forces should be used. In a letter sent to Radovan Karadzic on 19 June, the UN's Special Representative, Yasushi Akashi, went out of his way to assure the Bosnian Serb leadership that these additional forces would not alter the nature of the UN's peacekeeping forces. The upshot of these highly mixed signals (sending additional forces but with reassurances) was that the Bosnian Serbs were not deterred in any significant way from pursuing their own ends with regard to the safe areas. In Srebrenica, a small detachment of Dutch peacekeepers called Dutchbat 3 (Dutch battalion) was given responsibility for the safe area from January 1995 onwards. On paper the Dutch battalion, under the command of Lt-Col Thom Karremans, was 600 strong, but in fact only half these numbers were actual fighting soldiers.

Dutchbat 3 was armed with armoured personnel carriers with heavy machine guns, a TOW (Tube-launched, Optically tracked, Wire-guided) missile launcher, and of course, their personal weapons. Overall, a very lightly armed force in comparison with the estimated 1000-2000 Bosnian Serbs of the Fifth 'Drina' Corps, which possessed tanks, APCs and supporting artillery. In contrast, the Bosniac forces of the Twenty-Eighth Division, with around 4000 soldiers, had no heavy weapons apart from light mortars and a few anti-tank missiles. The overall impression was of the Bosnian Serbs possessing a qualitative superiority over the more numerous Bosniacs, not only in terms

of heavy weapons but also in training. The sporadic fighting in and around Srebrenica took a new twist on 3 June 1995, when a Bosnian Serb raid actually targeted one of Dutchbat 3's observation posts (OP Echo). Calls by Colonel Karremans for air support to save his men were denied, the OP was captured, and more UN hostages fell into Bosnian Serb hands. The situation in Srebrenica had, in fact, been getting worse for months, and Colonel Karremans had repeatedly requested assistance from the UN, but with little success given the problems occurring throughout Bosnia-Hercegovina at the same time. The low priority of Srebrenica meant that by June, Dutchbat 3 and the inhabitants of Srebrenica were running low on fuel, food and manpower - at least 150 of Colonel Karremans' men had been prevented from rejoining the unit in the town. UN intelligence assessments indicated that, though the situation was bad in Srebrenica, it was unlikely to be the focus of the Bosnian Serb strategy, since attacks in other areas appeared stronger and more frequent.

The main attack on Srebrenica occurred on 6 July, with the Bosnian Serbs using both tanks and heavy artillery to reduce strongpoints and soften up the defenders. The Dutch peacekeepers, on realising the nature of the assault, called for air support as the fighting got closer to their observation posts. Unfortunately, General Smith was away on leave (quite a common practice as even top commanders require a break away from the enormous stress) and therefore much of the crisis was dealt with by the overall Force Commander General Janvier and his staff in Zagreb, and Smith's multinational deputies in Sarajevo. The initial Dutch request for support was refused, but the Bosnian Serbs surprisingly halted their attack the next day. The attack resumed on 8 July, one day after General Mladic and President Milosevic had met with the EU Representative, Carl Bildt, to discuss the resumption of the peace process! Again, on the ground in Srebrenica, the fighting began to move towards the Dutch observation positions, and close air support was once more requested but ruled out by

UN commanders in Zagreb. Soon another observation post, OP Foxtrot, was overrun, and the UN forces manning it withdrew. One Dutch soldier was killed in this process, by Bosniac fighters as they drove through a roadblock in order to retreat from the advancing Bosnian Serb forces. Another UN position, OP Uniform, was also surrounded and the Dutch soldiers were taken hostage. The next day, the Bosnian Serb advance continued in the same manner - attacking UN positions and rolling up the pocket bit by bit. For the Dutchbat commander in Srebrenica, UNPROFOR's strategy of threatening air strikes but then relenting at the last minute put him and his soldiers in a desperate position. They tried warning off the Bosnian Serbs with mortar-fired flares and heavy machine-gun fire over the heads of the Serbs, but these measures were in vain. On 11 July, with the Bosnian Serbs on the outskirts of Srebrenica. Colonel Karremans had been convinced by an order from UNPROFOR that massive air strikes were on the way that morning. However, all that appeared in reality was two bombs dropped by NATO warplanes that overflew Srebrenica. The two bombs merely incensed the Bosnian Serb forces, led openly at this stage by General Mladic, who started threatening the lives of the captured Dutch peacekeepers. In the early hours of the next day, a ceasefire was arranged between the remainder of the Bosniacs, many of whom were crowded into the Dutch compound in their thousands, and the Bosnian Serb Army. The official report suggests that confusion in the UNPROFOR chain of command was the source of the misunderstanding over the air strikes.

The massacre at Srebrenica

The events that occurred in the aftermath of the 'surrender' of the safe area of Srebrenica will haunt the international community and those leaders in the UN and UNPROFOR for decades. The remaining Bosniac fighters tried to break through Bosnian Serb lines, but many were cut down by machine gun fire and the alleged use of non-lethal chemical weapons. For the remaining population of



Srebrenica, the men and older boys were separated from the women and children, in some cases with the assistance of UN representatives. The women and children were taken by bus out of Srebrenica towards Bosniac territory, and the men and boys were taken elsewhere. It is estimated that over 7000 males of various ages were executed in the following days by Bosnian Serb forces, despite General Mladic telling all the refugees (filmed by the international media) that they would not be harmed. Most, it seems, were driven to remote locations where they were simply shot dead. Witnesses to the massacres recount tales of how even the bus drivers were forced to take part in the killings, so that all were implicated in the dreadful acts of murder. For the UN, the whole incident was, and remains today, one of the most

An uncomfortable Colonel Thom Karremans (centre) having a drink with General Mladic (far left). It was essential for UN local commanders to get to know the key players on all sides, and so such activities were quite the norm, no matter how undesirable. Colonel Karremans was put in an impossible position by the United Nations during the attack on Srebrenica, when his calls for support to save his battalion were denied. (Rex Features)

indelible stains on its credibility, and seven years later a report by the Dutch government into the massacre led to the mass resignation of that administration. The key lesson from Srebrenica was that treating alleged war criminals, thugs and plain murderers, like General Mladic and President Milosevic, with moral equivalence and respect in relation to the other parties in the Balkans, was a recipe for genocide on a mass scale.

Portrait of a soldier

Lieutenant-Colonel Bob Stewart – UN Warrior

Lieutenant-Colonel Robert 'Bob' Stewart was the commanding officer of the 1st Battalion, the Cheshire Regiment – one of the first British units deployed into Bosnia-Hercegovina in 1992. During his six-month tour of duty, Bob Stewart became synonymous in the international media with the ongoing conflict in the Balkans, and was often filmed negotiating with the various warring factions at checkpoints to ensure

Colonel Bob Stewart (right) accompanying the British comedian Jim Davidson at the Cheshire battalion's headquarters in Vitez in December 1992. Jim Davidson is a familiar figure to British forces around the world, just as Jay Leno is to American troops. Maintaining the morale of the troops far from home is essential in war zones, especially during the festive season. (IWM BOS 44) that humanitarian aid got through to the people who desperately needed it. The British Army selects commanders of battalions with great care, and Bob Stewart was a typical example of the sort of competent and highly confident officer chosen for such commands, with the additional bonus of a degree in International Politics.

In September 1992, Lt. Col Stewart was summoned to the famous Main Building of the Ministry of Defence at the heart of the British political establishment in London. Surrounding this imposing building are the statues of famous military leaders who had been charged with serving Britain's interests abroad, and now it was Lt. Col Stewart's



opportunity to fulfil the same duty. A wide range of officers had been gathered to discuss the parameters of the British Army deployment in the former Yugoslavia, and one of the officers was Major-General Rupert Smith. During the course of the operations, a senior officer passed a note to Bob that read, 'It looks like a bag of nails. Best of luck'. This meeting basically determined the likely base of the British operations, which was pencilled in as Tuzla (later changed to Vitez) and emphasised the need for a reconnaissance party to be sent in order to get first-hand knowledge of the terrain and the local conditions. Lt. Col Stewart noted with interest the level of vagueness concerning command and control of British units in relation to other UN forces, and also with regard to the all-important rules of engagement (ROE). Clearly a great deal would be left to 'the man on the spot', and this fact merely heightened the importance of the reconnaissance mission that Bob would be part of the following week.

Redeployment to Bosnia-Hercegovina

The 1st Battalion, the Cheshire Regiment, was actually based in Germany rather than the United Kingdom, in line with the former Cold War posture of placing sizeable amounts of NATO forces in West Germany to defend against a mass attack by the Warsaw Pact. A considerable amount of preparation had taken place in the light of the orders to redeploy to Bosnia-Hercegovina, in particular, spraying the normally camouflaged Warriors with bright white paint, and issuing blue helmet covers for the troops. The Warriors would have to travel by sea to Croatia where they would be offloaded at Split.

These vehicles would eventually arrive in Croatia on 11 November, whereas the men would be flown into theatre at a much earlier date to put in place preparations for the arrival of the vehicles. The Warriors themselves would not be driven from Split to Vitez, but rather be carried on low-loader vehicles (a powerful truck and trailer combination) to the required locations. It was a much faster means of transporting them and, of course, reduced the wear and tear on the mechanical parts.

Setting up the main base at Vitez was not without problems and, inauspiciously, a huge storm blew up on the night that the bulk of the battalion arrived, destroying many of the carefully constructed tents that would house the troops until more substantial accommodation could be built. In addition, the impact of the severe weather on the local power grid resulted in the electricity being cut off from the base for nearly a week, forcing soldiers to resort to 'Tilley' lamps to work at night. Finally adding to these woes, the toilet system collapsed, which meant that the soldiers had to use buckets for nearly two months until a reliable sewage system was in place. It was not the best of starts to conducting operations in the Balkans at the height of a bitter winter.

Daily work

Despite these teething problems, Bob Stewart's day-to-day routine consisted of ensuring the smooth running of his area of operations, which effectively required him to base several of his companies in outlying towns around Vitez. This in turn placed great responsibility on his subordinates, especially the more junior captains and lieutenants, who would be at the forefront of responses to incidents and emergencies in those outlying bases. As CO (Commanding Officer) of the battalion, Bob's responsibilities were very much centred on man-management and ensuring that the morale of his soldiers from the most junior private soldier upwards - remained high. He did this by visiting his companies as much as possible, and was a familiar figure in his helmet and flak jacket on the frontlines between the warring sides. A typical example of Bob's care for his men was illustrated by his actions on Christmas



Day, which is probably one of the worst times for soldiers in a war zone, far from friends and family. Bob Stewart eased the burden by taking hot drinks laced with festive alcohol (toddies) to his men in their tents on the morning of that special day.

Obstacles of communication

One of Bob's major technical problems that had enormous implications for operations, as well as morale when deployed in theatre. was that of communications. The British high-frequency radios did not work at night in Bosnia-Hercegovina, and consequently the troops were forced to use satellite telephones. However, this was not the most satisfactory of arrangements as most phones operated from fixed locations, normally base areas, and not moving vehicles. Consequently, if a platoon was engaged in an incident at a distance, then Lt. Col Stewart's ability to communicate with the platoon on a real-time basis was very limited and not the ideal command and communications

ABOVE A British Warrior Armoured Fighting Vehicle (AFV) of the 1st Battalion, the Cheshire Regiment unloads from a RO-RO (Roll On, Roll Off) car ferry at Split in Croatia in 1992. Most heavy military vehicles are routinely transported by sea to war zones, because air transport cannot carry such heavy vehicles in bulk. (IWM BOS 87)

RIGHT A typical humanitarian convoy, made up of trucks and the odd press vehicle, being escorted through Bosnia by British forces. The lead vehicle is Lt. Col Stewart's Warrior (called 'Juliet'), and Stewart can be seen standing on the left of it, talking with one of his officers. This type of mission represented the 'bread and butter' operations of UN forces, to ensure that the people of Bosnia did not starve. Such aid operations could be very hazardous, and convoys were often attacked. (IVVM BOS 110)

arrangement for a CO in the field. Bob recalls his frustrations with the communications gear:

... the high-frequency radio rarely worked and when it did we were never able to get through to the right staff officers, and the INMARSAT (satellite communications) was permanently 'clogged out' with fax messages. The result was that it sometimes took me over an hour and a



half to get through to HQ BHC. And even when I did I was often unable to speak to the person I wanted. Command and control in such circumstances is obviously very difficult indeed.

Furthermore, British soldiers needed to contact home on a regular basis to keep their spirits up. Fortunately, British Telecom donated 10 satellite telephone lines for the main base at Vitez, which allowed the soldiers a 10-minute phone call whenever they had access to the system.

Tasks of the Cheshires

The sorts of task facing the British soldiers were immensely demanding and varied in nature. Escorting humanitarian convoys could be a very slow process, with regular stops at checkpoints on all sides before eventually reaching the required destination. 'Crossing lines' (as it was called) was always a slightly tense situation. Occasionally convoys would be fired on and in return the Warriors would either return fire with their 30mm cannons or 7.62mm chain guns.

Generally, such accurate fire tended to suppress whoever had taken a speculative shot at the convoy. Generating local ceasefires was an art form in itself and required the soldiers to get to know all commanders, regardless of affiliation. In the former Yugoslavia, such negotiations were usually accompanied by a local custom of drinking a powerful alcoholic drink called slivovitz, which could be dangerously potent in its 'home brew' variety. All sides, including the Bosniacs, drank it.

Occasionally, the Cheshires would recover bodies located in 'no man's land' between the warring sides, and this was highly dangerous as well as distasteful work. Often the bodies had been rotting for days, particularly in the

A Warrior AFV of A Company, Ist Batt., the Chesire Regt., being driven onto a low-loader truck. These carrying vehicles are ubiquitous among modern armoured forces, as they dramatically reduce the wear and tear on the engines and mechanical parts of AFVs, thus extending their operational life. (IWM BOS 98) summer, and the soldiers would have to try to fit the contents into a body bag for ease of transport. In winter, such corpses would be frozen stiff. Minefields would have to be avoided, and snipers occasionally fired shots in the distance. Artillery in the form of mortars was one of the biggest concerns. Wounded civilians trapped in the fighting would also need medical care and again, soldiers proved very adept at offering simple first-aid that could save a life, or at least stabilise a patient until they reached a hospital.



The death of a Cheshire

For Lt. Col Stewart, the death of one of his soldiers, Lance Corporal Wayne Edwards, was probably one of the hardest moments of his tour of duty. At the time of the shooting, Bob was actually quite close to the incident, so he witnessed the soldiers frantically trying to get Lance Corporal Edwards out of the driving position of the Warrior while under fire from snipers. He stood by them as they tried hard to resuscitate the wounded man. His memoirs record his impressions of seeing the body of Lance Corporal Edwards in the Medical Room:

Standing beside him I felt overwhelmed with guilt. I had brought him down here this morning from Vitez with the Standby Platoon. I had agreed to escort the ambulance through Gornji Vakuf. But, most of all, I was the Commanding Officer responsible for the safety of all members of the Battalion. I had failed completely. Utterly wretched and upset, I felt ill. I wept a little as I



stayed with Lance-Corporal Edwards's body for what must have been a few minutes before Tracy came back.

Any commander with experience in the field knows that the death of a soldier obeying his orders is probably one of the heaviest burdens to carry – not for a day or a week, but forever. Lt. Col Stewart, however, was not given much time to dwell on the issue, as his unit was quickly involved in equally difficult circumstances when the Bosniac-Croat Civil War blew up in the British zone. On hearing news about a suspected massacre in the village of Ahmici, Bob personally took a patrol of Warriors and discovered the grisly remains of the villagers and their animals. He recalls the ghastly scenes:

The human remains on the floor probably did not look as disgusting to me as to others. To me they seemed a blackened, sometimes reddish mess. Here and there the outline of a body was recognizable. Two small bodies appeared to be lying on their stomachs, but their heads were bent backwards over their arched backs at an impossible angle. In one the eyes were not completely burnt. At first I was too shocked to notice the smell but then it hit me. God, I felt sick. I went outside and leant against a wall. The soldiers and I exchanged glances, saying nothing. There was nothing we could say to each other.

Holding together a unit that had witnessed these horrors was by no means an easy task for any commander, and to Bob's credit he managed to get the Cheshires through an immensely disturbing incident. In fact, one of his other patrols actually intercepted by accident a group of 150 Bosniacs being taken to an area to be shot by Croatian soldiers. The British soldiers (without an interpreter) insisted on the people being escorted to another location, where they were saved. One of the key lessons that emerged from all these experiences was that if an incident arose, then deploying a peacekeeping unit quickly between the warring sides often helped to diffuse the situation.

Returning home

The Cheshire battalion's tour of duty was over on 11 May 1993, and Lt. Col Bob Stewart took his men back home to Germany. It had been an immensely challenging operation that posed both physical and psychological risks for all those involved in the operations. The Cheshires gained valuable experience in what was arguably one of the most complex, and certainly the largest, UN peacekeeping mission in the history of the United Nations. This institutional knowledge was not wasted, and these lessons were passed on to other British units serving in the Balkans. Bob Stewart was awarded the DSO (Distinguished Service Order) after his tour of duty in the former Yugoslavia, and promoted to full Colonel before retiring from the British Army a few years later. Today he is often seen on international news networks, as a consultant offering advice on humanitarian missions and sharing his hard-won knowledge and expertise with a global audience.

Global perspectives

The outbreak of fighting in the former Yugoslavia occurred at a time when the structure of international society was changing rapidly. With the end of the Cold War, western nations, in particular, were keen to reap the benefits of the new climate, and reduce the massive amounts of defence spending that had characterised the superpower rivalry for over 40 years. The Gulf War of 1991 appeared to be the exception to this trend, but in many ways the economic benefits of liberating Kuwait and bolstering the security of Saudi Arabia, two of the world's most significant oil-producing countries, far outweighed the financial outlay on military forces. Indeed, despite the United States providing the bulk of the fighting forces, the overall cost of the Gulf war was shouldered by other members of the coalition. In contrast, military involvement in the Balkans offered little in the way of economic benefits that would appeal to the petrol-driven economies of Europe and the United States. Instead, enhanced military involvement would be a 'sunk cost', borne by the taxpayers who had just been promised reduced defence expenditure. In addition, and above all other considerations, any commitment to the region - given the levels of division - would be a long-term proposition. For nations like Britain who had spent the last 20 years trying to resolve armed conflict between various factions of Catholics and Protestants in Northern Ireland, the experience of throwing money and lives (civilian and military) into such a scenario was painfully familiar. However, a direct comparison with Northern Ireland in terms of causes of the violence, though ostensibly similar, is in fact a completely false analogy. In the Balkans it was a state (Serbia) that was causing the violence, and its powers in terms of money

and disposable military forces were in a different league to the ragtag terrorist organisations in Northern Ireland, which managed to smuggle in a few rifles or pounds of explosive on an occasional basis.

The reluctance to engage in more robust humanitarian missions was not confined to South East Europe. In 1993, the United States suffered the loss of eighteen elite force members (Rangers and Delta Force) in a disastrous incident in Somalia that was subsequently immortalised by the movie Black Hawk Down. The sight of dead American servicemen being dragged through the streets of Mogadishu by a howling mob of Somalis, relayed around the world by the international news media, was enough to persuade President Bill Clinton to withdraw US forces from the peacekeeping mission. Clearly, though Operation Desert Storm in Kuwait had managed to banish some of the ghosts of Vietnam, the dreadful events in Somalia revealed that the United States was still very sensitive to casualties. Indeed, the word 'Somalia' became a mantra to those sceptics who did not want to actively end the fighting in the former Yugoslavia. Furthermore, the early 1990s were overshadowed by yet another example of the reluctance of the international community to intervene and stop ethnic fighting, this time in Africa. In 1994, hostilities broke out between the Hutu and Tutsi tribes in Rwanda, and within a matter of months approximately 800,000 people were killed, largely with machetes, in one of the most horrific examples of genocide in modern memory. Neither the United Nations nor the most powerful nations in the world moved quickly to try to stop the bloodletting, and once more global citizens were abandoned by the very institutions set up to prevent such tragedies. For cynics, the pattern of

international relations in the early to mid-1990s seemed to indicate that powerful states would only intervene decisively in conflicts when their own political and economic interests were threatened, otherwise the attitude was one of laissez faire with minimal involvement.

Spill-over

The fighting in the former Yugoslavia had significant consequences for neighbouring countries in terms of security. The buzz-word of the early 1990s was 'spill-over' - in other words, the fear that the fighting might spread to other countries and develop into a much bigger conflagration. Consequently, with this concern in mind and responding to a personal request from the Macedonian President, UNSCR 795 was passed on 11 December 1992, and saw the deployment of a small UNPROFOR unit to Macedonia, with its headquarters in Skopje, to monitor Macedonia's borders with Serbia and Montenegro as well as Albania. There was also a great danger that the Balkan 'tinderbox' could actually inflame an already tense relationship in the region between two NATO allies, Greece and Turkey. Throughout the 1990s, relations between these two countries had worsened, with much of the tension stemming from the division of Cyprus in 1974. Greek and Turkish warplanes would often engage in dogfights or air combat manoeuvring while on patrol over the Aegean Sea, with the potential for escalation into much greater levels of hostility. The connection with the Balkans stemmed from Greece's longstanding dispute over the status of Macedonia, and good links politically and culturally with Serbia. Slobodan Milosevic and his family actually owned holiday properties in the Greek Islands. Turkey, the modern name for the nation that had once been the wellspring of the Ottoman Empire, inevitably felt greater sympathy for fellow Muslims in Yugoslavia who were clearly being persecuted by Orthodox Christians. The scope for a much

wider conflict in South East Europe seemed like a not-too-far-fetched idea in the early 1990s.

The refugee crisis

Like all wars and conflicts, the killing and general chaos in the former Yugoslavia created millions of refugees on all sides, who, quite naturally, tried to get away from the rising tide of violence. The United Nations High Commission for Refugees (UNHCR) was the lead agency for dealing with this tidal wave of humanity, characterised by people fleeing their homes with few belongings apart from what they could carry. In Bosnia-Hercegovina it has been estimated that, of the original 4.4 million people living in the country prior to the outbreak of war, over half this number were forced out of their homes and had to move elsewhere. In addition, over a million left the country entirely and resettled abroad, with around 50 per cent going to Germany. Refugees headed not only for Western Europe, but also across the Atlantic Ocean to North America. Initially, widespread sympathy existed for the displaced populations, but over time, as the conflicts dragged on, the refugees became an increasing economic burden to those nations who had offered hospitality. In Britain, for example, tension flared up around the ports of South East England, between refugees at reception points and local communities, as both sides competed for scarce jobs. Refugees also brought with them their own cultures, and inevitably faced problems trying to adapt to countries with a completely different set of norms and values, as well as language. The failure to resolve the Balkan problem proved to be not just a political and security issue, but also an increasingly significant financial burden for the international community.

The United States

The position of the United States in the collapse of the former Yugoslavia was perhaps

the most ambiguous of all the nations watching the horrors unfold. Clearly the US had the most disposable military power of all the states in the world, yet it chose to remain on the sidelines for much of the initial diplomacy. At an individual level, however, Americans were at the heart of UN diplomacy to end the bloodshed. Cyrus Vance, the former Secretary of State under President Carter and a man with a wealth of diplomatic experience, was appointed as the Personal Envoy of Secretary General Javier Perez de Cuellar, to try to resolve the conflict. His 'Vance Plan' ensured the deployment of the first UN peacekeepers to Croatia, a move that would later be extended to Bosnia-Hercegovina. As the fighting continued in 1993, Secretary of State Warren Christopher proposed a plan called 'Lift and Strike' to halt Serb aggression. Put simply, lift the arms embargo, rearm the Bosniacs, and at the same time use NATO air power to threaten strikes against the Bosnian Serbs. European nations such as Britain were deeply opposed to such a move, as they felt it would widen the conflict. Nevertheless, despite facing immense opposition from their European counterparts, the United States under Bill Clinton did try to resolve the imbalance of military forces on the ground by using quite unorthodox methods. In the first instance, an American private military company called Military Professional Resources Incorporated (MPRI) started to train the Croatian Army into an effective fighting force. The management board of MPRI contained extremely senior, yet retired, members of the US Army, which suggests that their links with the US administration were significant. Secondly, alongside the food aid flights dropping 'Meals Ready to Eat' (MRE) to starving Bosniacs on the ground, there is credible evidence to suggest that the United States was secretly smuggling weapons to the Bosniacs, using transport aircraft landing at night in places like Tuzla, while fighter escorts made a great deal of noise to detract attention from these blacked-out aircraft. From 1994 onwards, US policy was visibly represented on the ground by two key people: Assistant Secretary of State for European Affairs Richard

Holbrooke, and General Wesley Clark who would become Supreme Allied Commander in Europe (SACEUR), NATO's highest commander, in 1997. Both men would also play an instrumental role in NATO's forceful response to Serbia's policies in Kosovo in 1999.

NATO

The end of the Cold War and the disintegration of Yugoslavia into armed conflict propelled NATO into the limelight. Great question marks hung over the future of the organisation that had ensured Europe's security since its inception in 1949. In the early 1990s, many commentators were openly speculating about the ongoing role of the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation. On the one hand, people argued that it had fulfilled its purpose, and as a Cold War structure it was out of place in the new world order. This position was reinforced by an American perspective which stressed that the United States had done enough for Europe, and it was now time to bring the troops home. On the other hand, it was suggested that the end of the Cold War represented a new opportunity for NATO to expand into areas previously controlled by the Soviet Union in Eastern Europe. After all, it was the premier security organisation in the world, and surely it should adapt to the new environment? While these debates raged, NATO found itself being used as the military wing of the United Nations in the former Yugoslavia, because the UN did not possess a standing military force. The relationship between NATO commanders and UN commanders is often portrayed as somewhat strained, due to the different aims of the two organisations. The Supreme Allied Commander in Europe during much of the crisis was General George Joulwan, who it is widely reported had intense rows with his UN counterpart, General Sir Michael Rose. Slightly down the chain of command, the responsibility for carrying out the air strikes resided with the Commander in Chief Allied Forces South (CINCSOUTH), Admiral

Leighton Smith. Admiral Smith was another American, based in Italy, and was keen to neutralise Serb air defences before initiating a massive air strike in order to reduce the risk to his multinational pilots. The key differences concerning the two organisations with regard to strategy revolved around the fact that only the UN had large-scale forces on the ground, whereas NATO (at the time) held very much a supporting role in the form of air assets. Therefore, if NATO adopted a tough line and bombed Serb positions intensively, it would be the 'light' UN forces that would have to endure the inevitable Serb retaliation.

Europe

In Europe, nations were again quite divided over the best strategy to stop the fighting in Croatia and Bosnia-Hercegovina. The will of the European Community (EC) to engage in the diplomacy to halt the fighting was only as strong as the collective unity of its member-states. In Slovenia, the EC had significant success with the Treaty of Brioni, but after that high point European Union (EU) diplomacy (the EC was renamed the EU in 1993) struggled to apply effective pressure on the warring sides. Lord Carrington, the first official mediator, failed to get consensus within the divided European nations and resigned in 1992, to be replaced by another British politician, Lord Owen. The Vance Owen Peace Plan of 1993, and the Owen-Stoltenberg Plan in August of the same year, both failed, and by 1994 EU diplomacy had been overshadowed by the new Contact Group made up of Britain, France, Germany, Russia and the United States. The problem for the Europeans was the level of division between major nations as to the best way forward. Germany, under the leadership of Helmut Kohl and his Foreign Minister, Hans Dietrich Genscher, took the lead with the recognition of the Balkan states, but upset Britain and France in the process. Germany also accommodated the bulk of the refugees fleeing Bosnia-Hercegovina. However,

Germany was preoccupied with major issues at home during this time, such as the costs of reunification with East Germany, and the task of trying to re-establish itself as a united country within the European continent, as well as international relations as a whole. France under President François Mitterrand initially opposed recognition of the Balkan states, but proved to be a stalwart of the contributing nations to the peacekeeping effort in the region. Like the British, the French were also opposed to the plans to deploy thousands of extra soldiers to make the safe areas work.

The United Kingdom

The British position under Prime Minister John Major, his Foreign Secretary, Douglas Hurd, and Defence Secretary, Malcolm Rifkind, is probably the most contentious because it was so firmly against decisive military involvement to end the fighting. Indeed, the term 'serbophile' is often used by critics to describe Britain's policy towards the Serbs.

The level to which the unhealthy relationship between influential British politicians and alleged Serbian war criminals had descended was revealed when Douglas Hurd (having retired from office and now working for industry) travelled to Belgrade in 1996 to try to obtain a contract with Milosevic's government to offer advice on privatisation. On the ground, British military commanders like General Sir Michael Rose struggled to find a balance between peacekeeping, and active involvement in the fighting at a level that the British Goverment, the UN, and the people of the Balkans would all find satisfactory. The appointment of General Sir Rupert Smith, however, brought about a change not only in how affairs were run in the UN headquarters on the ground, but also the interpretation of the UN mandate.

British policy fundamentally changed in 1995, as a result of a military leader who had the moral courage to do what was needed to end the fighting decisively. Britain, perhaps



above all nations in Europe, bears a great deal of responsibility for the tragedy that engulfed the former Yugoslavia, and yet at the same time played an important part in getting humanitarian aid to those that needed it. This seemingly absurd contradiction symbolised the disjointed European approach to the Balkan problem – it could end the fighting, but out of choice allowed the bloodshed to continue while distributing medical supplies to everyone.

Involvement of other nations

On the wings of the conflict, a number of nations, organisations and collective bodies became steadily involved. The new Russia

The British Prime Minister, John Major, accompanied by the famous BBC reporter Martin Bell, visiting British troops near Tomislavgrad. John Major was a completely different character to his predecessor, Margaret Thatcher, and his cautious foreign policy towards the Balkans in the critical build-up to war in the region has received significant criticism. (IVVM BOS 43)

under President Boris Yeltsin and his special envoy to the region, Vitaly Churkin, sent peacekeepers for UNPROFOR operations and developed a good relationship with their fellow Slavs, but it was a relationship that was often overstated by the West. It was easy to forget that Yugoslavia, despite all the Soviet-style weapons, was not part of the Warsaw Pact and actually feared Soviet intervention throughout the Cold War. Indeed, Russia often supported the use of



LEFT General Sir Rupert Smith when he commanded the British 1st Armoured Division with distinction in the Gulf War of 1991. (IWM GLF 54)

NATO air strikes at various stages of the conflict. Islamic nations demonstrated their support for the plight of the Bosniacs through the Organisation of Islamic Countries, which Bosnia-Hercegovina joined, but much of this support was in the form of humanitarian supplies and medical teams, though Iran managed to smuggle weapons to the Bosniacs. The UN peacekeeping effort accepted soldiers, policemen, medics and observers from a wide range of continents. From Africa came assistance from Ghana, Kenya and Nigeria. The Americas despatched peacekeepers from Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Columbia, the United States and Venezuela. Asian nations as diverse as Bangladesh, Indonesia, Malaysia, Nepal and Pakistan also sent significant numbers of troops. European states such as Belgium, Britain, Finland, France, Ireland, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Russia, Slovak Republic, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and on the fringe of the continent, Turkey and Ukraine, all sent peacekeepers. In the Middle East, countries like Egypt, Jordan and Tunisia contributed forces to the humanitarian effort, and on the other side of the world even New Zealand sent manpower.

Other organisations that tried hard to stop the fighting in the former Yugoslavia included the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe, (CSCE) which was renamed the Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) in 1994. It tackled the growing refugee crisis in 1992 and unlike NATO, which was a very exclusive organisation limited to a select number of member states, the CSCE encompassed over 50 nations. At an early stage in the fighting, it was discussed whether the Western European Union (WEU), the European security organisation, could have a unilateral role, but this proposal was quickly dropped. The economic damage caused by the warfare meant that both the International Monetary Fund (IMF)

and the World Bank would have to play a significant part in the reconstruction of the region. In Bosnia-Hercegovina, it was estimated that gross domestic product (GDP) had fallen by 70 per cent, and industry, agriculture and infrastructure, from roads to houses, were all badly damaged. It would take billions of dollars to get this country, let alone Croatia, back to normal. The sanctions regime on Serbia and Montenegro meant that their economies were also in bad shape, especially Serbia, due to Milosevic's disastrous economic policies. Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs) played a very important part in bringing relief to the suffering people, from the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) to the extremely brave medics of Medecins Sans Frontières (MSF), to name but a few of those that risked their lives on a daily basis.

The media

The role of the international media in bringing to the world's attention what many politicians in Europe were frantically trying to downplay cannot be underestimated in finally contributing to the end of the fighting. One of the most important media moments of the conflict was when the British reporter Penny Marshall, working for ITN, filmed the horrific conditions of inmates at the detention centre at Omarska in 1992. Overnight, the fighting in the Balkans brought home to audiences around the world how quickly Europe had returned to the past - death camps and genocide existed once more. The images of people starved to the point that ribs began to be clearly visible, and drawn faces talking to the press from behind barbed wire, must be the defining images of the Balkan Wars. Other reporters, such as Roy Gutmann of Newsday, Misha Glenny of the BBC World Service, and Maggie O'Kane and Ed Vulliamy of The Guardian, stand out as some of the most influential voices about the conflict. The famous man in the white suit, Martin Bell of



A French UN bomb disposal team at work, clearing mines and booby traps from a road near Tuzla in 1993. It was highly dangerous work, as minefields were often badly marked and the explosives were quite different from the mines found in the arsenals of Western forces. (IWM BOS 238)

the BBC, was a popular figure on international television, and was also wounded while reporting from Sarajevo. CNN, as usual, was an immensely powerful instrument for shaping popular perceptions, and Richard Holbrooke became noted for his adept use of this media outlet. Overall, the Balkans was a dangerous place for journalists, with many being arrested as spies or simply cut down by snipers. Consequently, many journalists stuck with the UN forces in certain areas for protection purposes, and this naturally influenced their viewpoint. For example, media coverage in the British-operating areas in Central Bosnia was very good, but other areas received less attention. An aspect of the media side of the conflict that received very little attention was Milosevic's use of state-run media outlets, to keep the bulk of the people in



Serbia uninformed as to the true extent of the slaughter being committed in their name. Of course, indications of the barbarity would be evident from conscripts returning from the frontlines, but in many ways the media was a key weapon in Serbia's arsenal. Unsurprisingly, NATO's plans in the subsequent war over Kosovo in 1999 contained a significant media strategy, to combat the enormous levels of propaganda that Milosevic's regime was capable of churning out to keep the Serbian people loyal to his cause.

Portrait of a civilian

Zlata's diary

One of the most famous books to emerge out of the horror of the fighting in and around Sarajevo was the diary of an eleven-year-old girl caught up in the mayhem. In some respects the parallels with Anne Frank's diary, set in occupied Europe during World War Two are striking. Zlata Filipovic was a typical example of a Sarajevo child, trying to cope with the extraordinary pressures that living in a city under siege has on its inhabitants. Her diary, which she later addressed as 'Mimmy', provides an illuminating perspective on how the war affected the lives of ordinary people far removed from the high politics of the warring factions and the United Nations. As such, it is a heart-rending account of how the citizens of Sarajevo desperately tried to survive and retain their humanity while the politicians, domestic and international, callously prevaricated over ending the war decisively.

The diary starts in the autumn of 1991, and conveys an impression of a happy childhood in the cosmopolitan city of Sarajevo.

Sunday, 6 October 1991

I'm watching the American Top 20 on MTV. I don't remember a thing, who's in what place.

I feel great because I've just eaten a 'Four Seasons' PIZZA with ham, cheese, ketchup and mushrooms. It was yummy. Daddy bought it for me at Galija's (the pizzeria around the corner). Maybe that's why I didn't remember who took what place – I was too busy enjoying my pizza.

Like most children of her age, Zlata's life revolves around her school grades and having fun with her friends, as well as being spoilt by her family. At weekends, Zlata's family would go to their home in the countryside (about 15km outside of Sarajevo) called Crnotina, with a big orchard of fruit trees whose crops Zlata's grandma would turn into strudels. The outbreak of fighting in other parts of the former Yugoslavia, however, began slowly to impinge on Zlata's life, as recorded in her diary, especially with the attack on Dubrovnik – a place that Zlata's parents, Alica and Malik, knew very well. Malik was a police reservist and the first time he was recalled for duty was a moment of great anxiety at home, with Zlata's mother in tears at the prospect of Malik getting hurt.

In the spring of 1992, violence and tension were beginning to manifest themselves in Sarajevo, but in a very sporadic way. Zlata recalls the day when the UN soldiers arrived:

Tuesday, 24 March 1992

There's no more trouble in Sarajevo. But there is in other parts of B-H: Bosanski Brod, Derventa, Modrica. Terrible reports and pictures are coming in from all over. Mummy and Daddy won't let me watch TV when the news is on, but you can't hide all the bad things that are happening from us children. People are worried and sad again. The blue helmets (actually, they're blue berets) have arrived in Sarajevo. We're safer now. And the 'kids' [Zlata's term for the warring sides] have retreated from the scene.

Zlata's hope that peace would prevail with the arrival of the UN was a false one, and the violence soon returned with a savagery that Zlata struggled to comprehend.

Monday, 6 April 1992

Dear Mimmy,

Yesterday the people in front of the parliament tried peacefully to cross the Vrbanja bridge. But they were shot at. Who? How? Why? A girl, a medical student from Dubrovnik, was KILLED. Her blood spilled onto the bridge. In her final moments all she said was: 'Is this Sarajevo?' HORRIBLE, HORRIBLE, HORRIBLE! NO ONE AND NOTHING HERE IS NORMAL!

It is often hard to understand how quickly a perfectly normal existence can be torn apart by the application of battlefield weapons, such as mortars and artillery, to the civilian environment. Overnight, Zlata's world was turned upside down, as the shelling of Sarajevo became a daily occurrence. Her beloved school was shut down briefly as the hills around Sarajevo became firing points for snipers, mortars and heavy artillery, making life for those who lived in the city extremely dangerous. Even Zlata's parents could not go to work as it was not safe to travel.

Monday, 20 April 1992 Dear Mimmy,

War is no joke, it seems. It destroys, kills, burns, separates, brings unhappiness. Terrible shells fell today on Bascarsija, the old town centre. Terrible explosions. We went down into the cellar, the cold, dark, revolting cellar. And ours isn't even all that safe. Mummy, Daddy and I just stood there, holding on to each other in a corner which looked safe.

Many people tried to get out of the city at this time, and Zlata's parents considered leaving as well, but their entire family was in Sarajevo so it was a difficult decision to make. Ultimately, they stayed. As the siege tightened around the city, electricity and water became scarce commodities. This forced people to make use of candles and oil lamps. Water had to be carried laboriously up to apartments from water collection points in each neighbourhood. The shortage

A well-armed Bosniac civilian with a sniper rifle and a homemade silencer, near Gornji Vakuf. A sniper is a very dangerous opponent on any battlefield, and a silencer dramatically reduces not only the muzzle flash (which reveals the sniper's position at night) but also the sound of the shot, thereby reducing the chance of detection. (IWM BOS 69)




A Bosniac soldier moves cautiously between destroyed houses in a suburb of Sarajevo called Dobrinja. This was a bitterly contested area between opposing Bosniac and Bosnian Serb forces, whose frontlines were at times just a few yards apart. Such fighting in urban centres made life for civilians extremely difficult, and it was almost impossible to remain neutral when the war arrived at your doorstep. (IVVM BOS 204)

of fuel forced many people to resort to old wood-burning stoves, and soon the famous trees of Sarajevo were cut down so that the citizens could survive the bitter Balkan winter. Food also became a major problem, not because of its shortage, but rather due to its cost. Prices soared and merchants would eventually demand deutschmarks for basic foodstuffs: an egg would cost 5 DM and a packet of coffee as much as 120 DM. As always in such crisis environments, hardship on this scale for ordinary people meant a time of great opportunity for criminal gangs and smugglers. For Zlata and her family, the arrival of UN humanitarian aid was a very important factor in their struggle to survive on a daily basis.

Tuesday, 14 July 1992 Dear Mimmy,

On 8 July we got a UN package. Humanitarian aid. Inside were 6 tins of beef, 5 tins of fish, 2 boxes of cheese, 3 kilos of detergent, 5 bars of soap, 2 kilos of sugar and 5 litres of cooking oil. All in all, a super package. But Daddy had to stand in the queue for four hours to get it.

The summer of 1992 was a difficult existence in Sarajevo. Random shells would pick off Zlata's school friends as they stood outside their apartment buildings or in the streets. Children who should be looking forward to the long summer holidays now



began to wonder if they would survive to see the next day. The future was put on hold while terror raged all around them. Snipers would fire opportunistic shots through windows to kill, wound, or simply terrorise. These killers, armed with high-powered hunting rifles and telescopic sights, could see their victims very clearly before firing a fatal shot. It was a very personal method of killing, and begs the question of what was motivating people to shoot children as well as the elderly along with anyone else that passed into view. The piano room in Zlata's house was considered a 'dangerous' room because it was exposed to hostile fire. In fact, all the windows in their home would be broken during the course of the fighting. Living with a sniper became just a daily

Sarajevo was placed under siege by the Bosnian Serb forces on the outlying hills, a strategy that was organised by the Bosnian Serb leadership in the nearby resort of Pale. From this high ground, Bosnian Serb forces fired sniper rifles, heavy machine guns, mortars and heavy artillery at the unfortunate Bosniacs trapped in the city. The 10km and 20km circles around the city show the range of medium calibre and heavy calibre mortars and guns. The most notorious of these firing incidents were the infamous Markale Market massacres that occurred in 1994 and 1995, killing over 100 people. Getting out of Sarajevo was immensely difficult at this stage, and everyone – whether UN forces or civilians – had to cross two Bosnian Serb checkpoints (SI and S2) on the main road out of the city towards Kiseljak. UN artillery units of the Rapid Reaction Force, based on Mount Igman, neutralised Bosnian Serb artillery positions during Operation Deliberate Force in 1995.

occurrence. Zlata's family named the person who was taking pot-shots at their



A young boy being treated for a shrapnel wound in his back, in a hospital in Sarajevo during the summer of 1992. Injuries of this nature were not uncommon, as the mortar shells lobbed into the city by the Bosnian Serb forces in the surrounding hills were indiscriminate as to who they hit or killed. (IWM BOS 228)

neighbourhood 'Jovo'. It was simply a surreal world in which snipers became part of the 'normal' landscape. The politics of the situation did not escape Zlata's sharp pen.

Tuesday, 4 May 1993

I've been thinking about politics again. No matter how stupid, ugly and unreasonable I think this division of people into Serbs, Croats and Muslims is, these stupid politics are making it happen. We're all waiting for something,



hoping for something, but there's nothing. Even the Vance-Owen peace plan looks as though it's going to fall through. Now these maps are being drawn up, separating people and nobody asks them a thing. Those 'kids' really are playing around with us. Ordinary people don't want this division, because it won't make anybody happy – not the Serbs, not the Croats, not the Muslims. But who asks ordinary people? Politics asks only its own people.

Your Zlata

This is perhaps one of the most perceptive insights into the failure of the international community to get to grips with the real issues in Bosnia-Hercegovina, instead of accepting the terms of those 'criminals' who had caused the fighting in the first place. Ironically, it would take an eleven-year-old girl to point out the obvious facts that international politicians did not want to acknowledge. From Zlata's perspective, nobody was asking the victims of the aggression what they wanted, and this A Bosniac woman tries desperately to sell her remaining possessions in Sarajevo in December 1994, to raise money to buy food for the winter. This level of desperation was commonplace across Bosnia-Hercegovina as the fighting reduced incomes to a trickle, and black market prices soared. (IWM BOS 224)

notion captured the helplessness that ordinary people in Bosnia-Hercegovina felt in the face of these impersonal forces that were deciding their future.

Apparently trivial issues became major problems for Zlata, especially when their pet bird Cicko ran out of food and, of course, refused alternative wartime rations like cooked rice and peas. Eventually bird food was found from neighbours, and Cicko's crisis was resolved. Both Zlata's pets, Cicko and Cici the cat, would die during the fighting. The loss of both good friends was a sore blow to the family, as they represented more than just animals but rather symbols of normality, of a better life in a crazy world.

The existence of Zlata's diary became known to the many international journalists

in Sarajevo, after her teachers at the local community centre arranged for it to be published. The diary was released to the global audience on 17 July 1993. Overnight, Zlata became an international media star and as a result of this attention she and her family were flown out of war-torn Sarajevo to Paris on 23 December 1993.

Her diary recalls her excitement at arriving in Paris:

Dear Mimmy,

PARIS. There's electricity, there's water, there's gas. There's, there's ... life, Mimmy. Yes, life, bright lights, traffic, people and food.

Zlata finally found normality outside of the city of Sarajevo, which would continue to suffer the horrors and degradation of war for nearly another two years. In this respect Zlata was one of the lucky ones, and her diary provides the world with a chilling reminder of how, when nations go to war, it is ordinary people and children who end up being the real victims.

Zlata Filipovic, 1995. *Zlata's Diary – A Child's Life in Sarajevo*. London, Puffin Books.

From peacekeeping to peace enforcement

By July 1995, the efforts of the United Nations to bring peace to Yugoslavia looked doomed to failure, and its international credibility was rapidly diminishing. The UN would make firm declarations to the international community, and when challenged by the Bosnian Serbs would fall back and accede to their demands. While the UN's position became increasingly undermined with each atrocity and humiliation on the ground, the effect on the Bosnian Serbs was quite the opposite. The fall of Srebrenica greatly encouraged them to continue their aggression against the safe areas, and a few weeks later on 25 July 1995, Mladic's men managed to seize another safe area - Zepa. Once more, the international community appeared paralysed by events on the ground in Bosnia-Hercegovina, and even the UN Human Rights Advocate, Tadeusz Mazowiecki, resigned in protest over the flagrant breaches of human rights. However,

specific operational measures were under discussion that would radically transform the situation. As Zepa fell to the advancing Bosnian Serbs, the North Atlantic Council (the decision-making body within NATO) agreed on a new policy of air strikes as part of a sustained campaign, rather than close air support operations, to protect the remaining safe areas of Bihac, Tuzla and Sarajevo. In concert with the United Nations, the command and control system to initiate such a response was also changed, giving the 'key' to the Force Commander in theatre, or in his absence to the UNPROFOR Commander in Bosnia-Hercegovina. In simple terms, if the key was 'turned' then

The silent victims of the failure of the international community to decisively halt the fighting at an early stage in Bosnia-Hercegovina. A panoramic view of Lions Cemetery in Sarajevo in 1994. The cemetery was forced to expand, through pressure of numbers, into the neighbouring football stadium and running track. (IVM BOS 243)



action would occur immediately – not just one or two bombs, but a sustained offensive.

Operation Storm

Events on the ground were also about to change for different strategic reasons. The official and unofficial aid (civilian and military) that the United States had given to the Croatian Army was now about to bear fruit. On 4 August, the revitalised and US-trained Croatian forces initiated Operation Storm, or Oluja, which was designed to decisively capture the Croatian Serb area of the Krajina. The Croats had built up an army of 200,000 soldiers for this operation, and attacked in a pincer movement with a heavy emphasis on the capture of the strategically important capital, Knin. Following a lightning heavy bombardment of Serb positions, the Croatian forces moved forward with remarkable ease. The Croatian Serb forces had about 40.000 troops and 400 tanks to defend the region, but these were caught out by the speed and direction of the offensive. In just three days, Republika Srpska Krajina was largely overrun by the victorious Croatian Army, and the capital of Knin captured with almost 200,000 Serbs fleeing into Bosnia-Hercegovina. Despite assurances from President Tudjman that civilians would not be harmed, there were widespread indications of atrocities against the Serbs who stayed behind, and entire villages were razed to the ground.

This tremendous military victory rapidly altered the strategic and diplomatic context in the Balkans, and the Croatian forces and their Bosniac allies in Bihac began to make significant in-roads into the Serb-controlled regions.

The Markale Market Massacre, Part II

The trigger for the use of decisive force against the Bosnian Serbs by NATO forces was the firing of five mortar shells at the busy Markale Market on the morning of 28 August 1995. Thirty-seven people were killed and around 90 wounded in the attack. Interestingly, a year earlier, an identical attack in which 68 people were killed had prompted the then UNPROFOR commander, General Rose, to blame Bosniacs as a result of a flawed forensic report. This time, the report into the shelling clearly identified that the shells had originated from the Bosnian Serb positions around Lukavica. Unlike his predecessor, General Sir Rupert Smith did not solely pursue the negotiations option in the aftermath of the massacre with a view to seeking another fragile agreement. Instead, the British commander exploited the situation to bring about a resolution once and for all. By fortunate coincidence, the UN Force Commander in Zagreb was out of theatre, and so the 'key' to initiate air strikes resided in the hands of General Smith.

One constraint on the immediate recourse to air strikes was the presence of UN forces passing through Bosnian Serb territory near Gorazde. It is important to note that Serb tactics of taking hostages after a close air support strike had not been lost on UNPROFOR, and consequently in the weeks leading up to late August 1995 NATO had deliberately withdrawn its forces from exposed positions. Having received the report into the attack on Sarajevo, General Smith employed a clever dual-track psychological approach to ensure the safe passage of his troops through the Bosnian Serb lines. First, during a phone call with General Mladic, the UNPROFOR commander neglected to mention that he now knew who had fired the mortars and that he was planning direct military action. Consequently, Mladic was lulled into a false sense of security, and let the UN forces pass out of the territory unhindered. Secondly, General Smith released a statement to the press that was very vague on the subjects of either who was to blame for the attack that morning, or what the response of the international community would be. To any seasoned observer of Balkan affairs on the night of 28 August, it looked like the UN

would once more revert to inactivity, and acquiesce to yet another atrocity.

Operation Deliberate Force

At 2000hrs on 28 August 1995, General Sir Rupert Smith turned his key. He did so without consulting the UN (who found out about this decision six hours later) or the nations who were contributing troops to UNPROFOR, and talked instead with the head of NATO's Southern Command, who would initiate the air strikes. Both men were in agreement that the air strikes would commence as soon as NATO forces were ready and the weather improved. At 0300hrs on 30 August, Operation Deliberate Force began in earnest, with the aim of significantly degrading the ability of the Bosnian Serb forces entrenched around Sarajevo to harm either the civilians or UNPROFOR forces. The Rapid Reaction Force was an essential component of the strategy to neutralise Bosnian Serb artillery positions, and came equipped with heavy artillery. On the first night of operations they fired 600 rounds of heavy calibre, high explosive ordnance on Bosnian Serb artillery positions around Sarajevo. UNPROFOR guns located on Mount Igman bracketed 19 Bosnian Serb positions with devastatingly accurate shell-fire in order to coerce them into withdrawing out of the 20km exclusion zone around Sarajevo. The terms under which Operation Deliberate Force would be halted were unambiguous - the Bosnian Serbs must respect the safe zones around the remaining safe areas, and stop fighting not only in these areas, but across the entire country. The cost to the NATO forces on the first night of operations was extremely light, with one French Mirage aircraft shot down and some ineffective small arms fire being directed at UNPROFOR positions.

Negotiations continued throughout the bombing, and a lull in the air strikes on 31 August caused by bad weather allowed the Force Commander, General Janvier (who had returned to the region), to implement a strategic pause in operations on 1 September in order to initiate talks with General Mladic at Zvornik. In addition. General Smith used this period to open up the road between Sarajevo and its airport on 2 September, and warned the Bosnian Serbs that if they prevented the free flow of traffic, the consequences would be extremely severe. A day later he also opened up a land route from the city to Butmir. In effect, General Smith had broken the siege of Sarajevo and people could move freely on these routes, without fear of roadblock or shootings, for the first time in three years. The talks with Mladic and the Bosnian Serb leadership predictably failed, and air strikes continued on 5 September. To the consternation of the UN hierarchy, UNPROFOR started issuing statements that they would 'cripple' the military capabilities of the Bosnian Serbs. In concert with these threats, NATO aircraft started to hit targets outside of Sarajevo (labelled 'Option 3') from 6 September onwards, mainly because they had run out of the so-called Option 2 targets around the city. These Option targets were Serbian positions of military and economic value, from anti-aircraft missile sites to communications centres that included television and radio transmitters. These could be targeted with an array of weapons, from precision-guided munitions to 'dumb' bombs. Again, negotiations between the three sides continued throughout the bombing, and the United States diplomat Richard Holbrooke interfaced with the highest levels of the three political structures. On 10 September, NATO increased the pressure on the Bosnian Serbs by firing 13 Tomahawk missiles at the air defence sites around Banja Luka. Bit by bit, General Mladic's forces were being taken apart by NATO forces, finally dispelling the prevalent myth that hundreds of thousands of troops would be required to bring the Bosnian Serbs under control. By 14 September the negotiations had made surprising progress, and once more a pause was put into effect regarding the air strikes. The Bosnian Serbs completely complied with all the terms set



A sadly familiar scene of a mass funeral for Bosniacs in the famous Lions Cemetery in Sarajevo, during a lull in the fighting. It was very important for Bosnian Muslims to bury their dead as quickly as possible. However, due to the intensity of the fighting it was sometimes simply not practicable. The fear of an outbreak of disease was a constant worry for aid workers in and around Sarajevo. (IWM BOS 212)

out by the UN, and Operation Deliberate Force was formally ended on 21 September.

NATO aircraft flew over 3000 sorties in support of Operation Deliberate Force, and attacked more than 60 targets on the ground. In concert with UNPROFOR artillery units, these attacks demonstrated that the Bosnian Serb forces were little more than a paper tiger. The military situation for the Bosnian Serbs went from bad to worse throughout this offensive, as Croatian and Bosniac forces captured more territory. The proportion of Bosnia-Hercegovina controlled by the Bosnian Serbs fell rapidly by around 20 per cent. It became increasingly clear that the Bosnian Serb military leadership was out of its league. General Mladic's military reputation was quickly exposed by General Sir Rupert Smith as one built on bluff and fighting much weaker forces. General Smith was a man with vastly more military experience, who had led an armoured division in the Gulf War of 1991. It was a moral and military victory for a soldier who avoided the limelight, and never forgot his humanity. Operation Deliberate Force remains a little-known example of how a seemingly intractable conflict can be resolved though the robust interpretation of a UN peacekeeping mandate.

The Dayton Agreement

Against the background of the intense NATO bombing and UN shelling of Bosnian Serb positions, the United States took the diplomatic lead to finally conclude the fighting in the Balkans. Negotiations since the Vance Owen Peace Plan had never really succeeded in generating a plan to which all sides would be happy to subscribe. Several proposals were put forward in the years 1993 to 1995, one envisaging three republics in Bosnia-Hercegovina, and another pressing for a 51:49 split of territory between the Bosniacs and Croats, and the Bosnian Serbs. By 1995, however, the Americans realised that all of these plans, whether by the EU, the Contact Group or the United Nations, would not succeed unless they took charge of the negotiating process. This is the most interesting facet of the Dayton Agreement held at the Wright-Patterson Air Force base in Dayton, Ohio. A recent memoir by General Wesley Clark, who played a very important part in the process, reveals that the US chief negotiator, Richard Holbrooke, was well aware that the Serbs and Bosniacs were quite capable of creating divisions amongst the Europeans, or turning them against the Americans. Relegating the Europeans to a supporting role in essence prevented such a scenario from developing. In addition, military events on the ground had greatly helped the US negotiations, as the Croatian and Bosniac offensives had just about created the desired 51:49 division of territory that was long perceived as a workable framework for the future.

The negotiating positions of the three major regional powers at Dayton offer an insight into individual perspectives by 1995. The Serbian negotiating stance was fascinating, in the sense that Milosevic dominated the agenda and refused to allow the Bosnian Serbs to torpedo the talks. Perhaps for a brief moment in time a veil had been lifted, and the true balance of power as well as the hierarchy of command was finally revealed at Dayton. For Milosevic, time was beginning to run out. The wars had been disastrous for the Serbian economy, sanctions had hit his regime hard, and the international reputation of Serbs had been sullied. Milosevic's casual abandonment of the Croatian Serbs and then the Bosnian Serbs demonstrated that they had been merely puppets for his own political ambitions, and when they had served their purposes he dropped them with alacrity. Of course, he tried to fashion the agreement to suit his purposes, and attempted to delay the arrival of foreign troops or limit their powers, but the United States refused to be drawn into yet another Balkan trick. At the end of the day, Milosevic was a political survivor. His attempts to play the nationalist card in both Croatia and Bosnia-Hercegovina had backfired badly, and it was now time to shore up his own regime in Serbia itself. The Croatian position under Tudjman was a reluctantly practical one. After all, it was American assistance that had formed the platform for Croatian military successes in 1995, and the withdrawal of that support would have very significant consequences. Tudjman strongly supported the Bosnian Croats, who were dissatisfied with the dominance of the Bosniacs in parts of the Federation, and aspired to an autonomous area like the Serbs, but the will of the international community was strong enough to keep these nationalistic tendencies under control. The biggest winners in the entire process were the Bosniacs, who managed to involve the world's only remaining superpower in their region in a political, economic and military sense. Izetbegovic tried hard to expand US involvement in as

much of the Bosniac-Croat Federation as possible, on all levels – from policing to military operations. His strategy was quite simple: the ineffectiveness of the Europeans in resolving the crisis meant that the best hope for peace and security for Bosniacs lay with the United States. In this respect, Dayton was a triumph for the victims of Serbian aggression.

Operation Joint Endeavour and Operation Joint Guard

The Dayton process culminated in a document called 'The General Framework Agreement', which was initialled by all three parties on 21 November before being formally signed at a ceremony in Paris on 14 December 1995. The paper set out in eleven annexes how the peace would be maintained, and included military aspects as well as regional stabilisation, inter-entity boundaries, elections, the constitution, arbitration, human rights, refugees and displaced persons, national monuments, public corporations and an international police task force. A new civil administration called the Office of the High Representative (OHR), the first of which was the Swedish politician Carl Bildt, was created to run the country. To make this comprehensive accord work, a large military formation called the Implementation Force (IFOR), comprising 60,000 soldiers, was deployed to Bosnia-Hercegovina in a plan called Operation Joint Endeavour. Unlike UNPROFOR, whose mandate ended with the deployment of IFOR, this was a NATO unit of which a third of the troops were from the United States and who possessed all the accoutrements for war, from tanks to supporting artillery. Remarkably, IFOR began deploying in Bosnia-Hercegovina just six days after the signing of the accord in Paris.

IFOR's mandate was to last exactly one year, when it would be replaced by a new formation called the Stabilisation Force, or SFOR (Operation Joint Guard), which would be half its size. Unlike UNPROFOR, IFOR



could 'compel' any of the parties that were interfering with its mandate on the ground, or in other words, engage in robust peace enforcement. As such it was extremely successful, and finally a sense of normality began to return to Bosnia-Hercegovina. IFOR's successor, SFOR, has to date been reduced considerably from its peak size of 32,000 to a planned size of 7000 personnel by June 2004, and of the current 27 troop-contributing nations, 11 represent non-NATO forces. SFOR's tasks have ranged from active patrols to arresting war criminals (21 by 2000), and helping to rebuild the shattered infrastructure of the country.



Under the auspices of Operation Harvest, SFOR troops have collected around 11,000 weapons and over 40,000 hand grenades, as well as destroying over 2 million unsafe munitions from bombs to land mines. These forces have been instrumental in opening up safe routes for the civilians of Bosnia-Hercegovina and ensuring a level of security for people on all sides.

The War in Kosovo, 1999

It is perhaps ironic that the very place where Milosevic had built up his political French and Spanish IFOR soldiers near Mostar, preparing for a ground-air co-operation exercise. The sheer size and strength of IFOR ended the fighting overnight, and offers a model for future operations in disputed lands. An iron fist approach can be decisive when dealing with parties that ignore the will of the international community in order to inflict misery on innocent civilians. (IWM BOS 251)

powerbase and reputation would ultimately prove to be his Achilles heel. The issue of autonomy had always been at the heart of the dispute between the majority Kosovan Albanians and the minority Serbs, who represented around 10 per cent of the population. These tensions that had been



The Dayton Agreement effectively ended the fighting in the former Yugoslavia with the introduction of the Implementation Force (IFOR) into the region, and the creation of the Office of the High Representative (OHR) to direct civil affairs. IFOR was replaced by the Stabilisation Force (SFOR) after a year, and it continues to maintain a significant presence in the region. The Dayton Agreement was never conceived as a long-term solution, and at some stage in the future a comprehensive political settlement (without the presence of international forces) will have to be negotiated.

quite apparent at the end of the 1980s began to manifest themselves from 1996 onwards in terms of violence. By 1998, Serb forces (Army and Special Police Units) were openly fighting what they described as a terrorist organisation, the Kosovo Liberation Army

(UCK), and launched a major offensive that was characterised by killings, burning villages and forcing over 200,000 Kosovans to flee in fear. For the watching international community, it was all too familiar, as Milosevic applied his usual strategy for dealing with opposition. The consequences of a hands-off approach had already been demonstrated in the Balkans Wars of the early 1990s, and inevitably the regional costs would include the economic burden of feeding hundreds of thousands of refugees, as well as the real danger of spill-over in areas like Macedonia. The negotiating process revolved around the Contact Group, Richard Holbrooke, the United Nations, the Organisation for Security and Cooperation in

Europe (OSCE) and NATO, with the latter organisation taking a noticeable lead in terms of willingness to apply force to resolve the issue. In September 1998, the UN Security Council passed UNSCR 1199, which pushed for a ceasefire and the pull-back of military forces in Kosovo. In support of this diplomacy, NATO initiated activation orders for air strikes, and Holbrooke held face-to-face talks with Milosevic, eventually persuading him to accept two verification missions, one by NATO from the air called Operation Eagle Eye, and the other by the OSCE on the ground called the Kosovo Verification Mission. This agreement was rubber-stamped by the UN with the passing of UNSCR 1203. These verification missions that started in November revealed that Serb forces continued to flout the will of the international community, and in January 1999 found apparently hard evidence of a massacre of 45 Kosovo Albanians at a village called Racak. This incident helped to push all sides towards getting a meaningful resolution of the dispute, and talks were initiated between Milosevic, the leader of the shadow government of the Kosovo Albanians Dr Ibrahim Rugova, and the Contact Group, at Rambouillet in France on 6 February 1999. The first round of talks failed to reached a comprehensive settlement, and a second round, or the 'Paris Follow-On Talks' (15-18 March), led to the Kosovo Albanians signing up to an agreement that would allow a NATO-organised force into Kosovo itself. Milosevic, however, refused to accept such a proposition. In typical fashion, he had launched a major offensive in Kosovo while the talks were taking place, and was using the negotiations to merely build up his units so that he could dictate his own terms on the ground. On March 22, last-minute face-to-face talks between Richard Holbrooke and Milosevic in Belgrade failed, prompting NATO's Secretary General Javier Solana, in consultation with the alliance members, to order SACEUER (Supreme Allied Commander, Europe) General Wesley Clark, to start the campaign the next day. NATO's air operations began on 24 March 1999.

Operation Allied Force

In retrospect, Operation Allied Force was a somewhat unusual and disjointed campaign for a military organisation that was celebrating its fiftieth anniversary. In the run-up to conflict, NATO had planned for a wide range of contingencies concerning the use of force over Kosovo, but the failure of the negotiations appeared to catch the alliance by surprise. In a military sense, it certainly did not have enough aircraft in the theatre at the start of hostilities (these would grow steadily in number throughout the 78 days of bombing), and politically, divisions began to emerge amongst NATO countries when the bombing started. Consequently, these factors meant that the performance of the initial strategy and the effectiveness of NATO strikes were very mixed. In addition to the shortage of strike aircraft (just 120 on 24 March, rising to over 300 by the end of April), which reduced NATO's ability to initiate a Desert Storm style of air offensive, the awful weather over the region severely degraded NATO ability to hit targets effectively. Consequently, the first phases of the campaign were indecisive and had a frustratingly slow effect on Serbian ethnic cleansing on the ground in Kosovo, which accelerated enormously with 800,000 of Kosovo's population having been expelled by May. The campaign only started to have an impact when NATO escalated its bombing strategy to include Serbia itself, and neutralised power stations with graphite (soft bombs), and destroyed 34 bridges, 57 per cent of Serbia's oil reserves, and all of the Yugoslav oil refineries. It was this ability to bring the war to the Serbian people, especially after the destruction of Serb radio and television in Belgrade on 23 April, that placed enormous pressure on Milosevic's regime. The United States bore the burden of the campaign, contributing the bulk of the attack aircraft, which included B-52s, B-1B bombers and the B-2 Stealth Bombers, which flew 30-hour missions from their base in Missouri! Over 300 cruise missiles were fired during the course of the 78-day action.



General Wesley Clark (right) and Richard Holbrooke would play a critical role in the resolution of the crises in the former Yugoslavia. Richard Holbrooke was perhaps the most able, and the most successful, diplomat sent by the United States to calm the fighting in Bosnia-Hercegovina. General Wesley Clark fought a difficult campaign in Kosovo in 1999 and managed to emerge victorious. (Rex Features)

However, it was a very limited campaign in comparison with previous wars, with just 37,000 air sorties dropping an estimated 23,000 munitions, of which 35 per cent were precision-guided weapons, about four times the amount used during the Gulf War of 1991. In addition, despite not suffering a single fatality in combat, an F-16 and an F-117 Stealth Fighter were shot down. Tragically, the Chinese Embassy was also bombed on 7 May by accident, by a B-2 bomber with satellite-guided bombs (Joint Direct Attack Munitions - JDAMS) and the cause of this error was put down to using out-of-date maps. By early June it was quite clear that Milosevic was ready to negotiate, and on 9 June a military-technical agreement was signed between NATO and the Yugoslav authorities, which encompassed the

withdrawal of Serb forces from Kosovo. UNSCR 1244 was passed the next day, which allowed a multinational force under Lt General Sir Michael Jackson (UK) to enter Kosovo to ensure peace and security, where they discovered evidence of widespread abuses of human rights.

The fall of Milosevic

The new millennium was a bad year for Milosevic, his former associates and rivals. In January 2000, the notorious Arkan was shot dead outside a fashionable Belgrade hotel, and great mystery surrounds who was behind his killing. Arkan naturally had many enemies, but he was also a major figure in Serbia's criminal elite that controlled vast portions of the economy. Suspicions have fallen on Milosevic's son, Marko, who was also allegedly heavily involved in this underworld, or Milosevic himself, who may have feared that Arkan may 'spill the beans' to the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia (ICTY). Or perhaps it was just gangster rivals. In August 2000, a former ally

of Milosevic, Ivan Stambolic, suddenly disappeared without trace. Milosevic stood for re-election as Yugoslav President in autumn 2000, and despite losing substantially to his main rival, Vojislav Kostunica, the leader of the Democratic Party of Serbia, 'Slobo' tried to rig the elections as he had done on several occasions in the past. Nearly half a million people rose up in protest over this tactic on 5 October in Belgrade, and stormed the Parliament before setting fire to it. It was the last straw for the Serbian people, and Kostunica was propelled into power while Milosevic, realising that the game was up, retired to his Belgrade mansion. Under a dynamic Prime Minister, Zoran Djindjic, who was well aware of the need to improve relations with the international community, Milosevic was arrested in April 2001, before being handed over to the international court at The Hague in late June.

Milosevic's trial (still on-going at the time of writing) started in February 2002, and has proved a difficult case to prosecute. The enterprising Zoran Djindjic was assassinated in March 2003 by a former special police unit called the 'Red Berets', and during the course of the investigation the body of former President Ivan Stambolic was found. Interestingly, Mirjana Markovic (Milosevic's wife) and son, Marko, have been implicated in Stambolic's murder as well as organised criminal activities, as once more the Red Berets (under direct orders) appeared to have committed this assassination. Both mother and son have now fled to Russia to escape an arrest warrant by Serbian police for their involvement in various crimes. On top of these startling revelations, Serbia's last President, Milan Milutinovic (another ally of Milosevic), handed himself in to The Hague in January 2003 on charges of being a suspected war criminal. Undoubtedly, Serbian politics will be in turmoil for some time to come, as future leaders will have to deal with not only the destroyed reputation of the political body both domestically and internationally, but also the endemic corruption within significant aspects of the national economy, caused by the Milosevic clan and their supporters.

The future

It is interesting to note that most of the major regional and international politicians involved in the Balkan Wars have bowed out from the public gaze in one form or another. Franjo Tudjman died in 1999, and Alija Izetbegovic passed away in 2003. In contrast, the ailing Slobodan Milosevic (his trial is often interrupted by illness) resides at The Hague while still being prosecuted for war crimes in Croatia, Bosnia-Hercegovina and Kosovo. John Major and Douglas Hurd, to name two of the British officials, have become elder statesmen though it must be uncomfortable watching the prosecution of a leader for war crimes that they treated with undue respect. President Bill Clinton has retired from office, though probably with the most honours for his efforts in resolving the fighting. Prime Minister Tony Blair, who was firmly behind the military action in Kosovo and deserves great credit for his actions, now finds himself mired in controversy over allegations of unwarranted aggression with American allies in the recent Gulf War II, which itself has significant potential for possible legal action in the future. The great negotiator Richard Holbrooke has also retired from public office, but typically is working towards the public good with his involvement in the fight against AIDS. General Wesley Clark retired not only from the US Army in 2000, but also from the recent race to become the Democratic Party's nominee for President in 2004. At The Hague, the ICTY is making steady progress towards the prosecution of key figures on all sides involved in the war crimes in the former Yugoslavia. Fifty-nine (to date) are in custody and in various stages of the prosecution process. Many others are serving sentences, some of which are up to 40 years behind bars, and of these the most senior has been Biljana Plavsic (former Vice-President to Radovan Karadzic) who was sentenced to 11 years in jail for her activities and is currently serving this sentence in Sweden. The most notable absentees are Radovan Karadzic (last rumoured to be in



Belgrade) and General Mladic. Clearly, it is imperative that both men are brought to trial as quickly as possible if the people of the Balkans are to move forward with dignity. It is also important to note that the Dayton Agreement was not a long-term fix, and at some stage will need to be addressed in a fundamental way. However, the maintenance of the status quo, at least for the foreseeable future, may be the most practical way ahead. Time, as the old cliché suggests, is a great healer, and a new generation of Bosniacs, Bosnian Croats and Bosnian Serbs may be more willing to accommodate each other than the older generation that endured the horror of the wars. The fundamental lesson from the Balkan Wars of the 1990s is that the international community must not treat

Justice finally caught up with Milosevic with the start of his trial at The Hague in 2002. This trial is important not only in a regional sense, but also internationally, as it sends out a powerful message to world leaders that if they engage in 'illegal' wars, as well as the suppression of minorities, then the international community will eventually punish them. (Rex Features)

aggressors and victims with moral equivalence, and must be prepared to call the bluff of dictators as well as intervene with overwhelming military force. Sadly, the continuing existence of long-standing territorial disputes in global affairs, and the unwillingness of nation-states to make these critical distinctions, while civilian populations endure immense suffering, suggest that the lessons of the former Yugoslavia were short-lived.

Further reading

- Wesley Clark. 2002. Waging Modern War. New York: Public Affairs.
- Zlata Filipovic. 1995. *Zlata's Diary A Child's Life in Sarajevo*. London: Puffin Books.
- Misha Glenny. 1996. *The Fall of Yugoslavia*. London: Penguin Books.
- Misha Glenny. 2001. *The Balkans 1804–1999: Nationalism, War and the Great Powers*. London: Penguin Books.
- James Gow. 2003. *The Serbian Project and its Adversaries: A Strategy of War Crimes*. London: Hurst and Company.
- Miroslav Hadzic. 2002. *The Yugoslav People's Agony: The Role of the Yugoslav People's Army*. London: Ashgate.
- Michael Ignatieff. 2001. Virtual War. London: Vintage.
- Tim Judah. 2000. *The Serbs: History, Myth and the Destruction of Yugoslavia*. London: Yale University Press.
- Report of the Secretary-General Pursuant to General Assembly Resolution 53/35, The Fall of Srebrenica, A/54/549 (1999).

- Nick Richardson. 2002. *No Escape Zone*. London: Time Warner Paperback.
- Carole Rogel. 1998. *The Breakup of Yugoslavia and the War in Bosnia*. London: The Greenwood Press.
- Michael Rose. 1998. Fighting for Peace: Lessons from Bosnia. London: Warner Books.
- Brendan Simms. 2002. *Unfinest Hour: Britain and the Destruction of Bosnia*. London: Penguin Books.
- Charles Shrader. 2003. *The Muslim-Croat Civil War in Central Bosnia: A Military History, 1992–1994.* College Station: Texas A & M University Press.
- Milos Stankovic. 2001. *Trusted Mole: A Soldier's Journey into Bosnia's Heart of Darkness.* London: HarperCollins.
- Bob Stewart. 1993. *Broken Lives: A Personal View of the Bosnian Conflict*. London: HarperCollins.
- Marcus Tanner. 2001. Croatia: A Nation Forged in War. London: Yale University Press.

List of abbreviations

ABiH	Armed Forces of	NGO	Non-Governmental
	Bosnia-Hercegovina		Organisation
APC	Armoured Personnel Carrier	OHR	Office of the High
APDS	Armour Piercing Discarding		Representative
	Sabot	OP	Observation Post
CINCSOUTH	Commander in Chief Allied	OSCE	Organisation for Security and
	Forces South		Cooperation in Europe
CO	Commanding Officer	OS RSK	Army of the Republika Srpska
COHA	Cessation of Hostilities		Krajina
	Agreement	ROE	Rules of Engagement
CSCE	Conference on Security and	RS	Republika Srpska
	Cooperation in Europe	RSK	Republika Srpska Krajina
EC	European Community	SAS	Special Air Service
EU	European Union	SFOR	Stabilisation Force
HOS	Military Branch of the	SACEUR	Supreme Allied Commander,
	Croatian Party of Rights		Europe
	(HSP)	TOW	Tube-launched, Optically
HV	Croatian Army		tracked, Wire-guided
HVO	Croatian Defence Council	UN	United Nations
ICRC	International Committee of	UNHCR	United Nations High
	the Red Cross		Commissioner for Refugees
ICTY	International Criminal	UNMO	United Nations Military
	Tribunal for the former		Observers
	Yugoslavia	UNPA	United Nations Protected
IFOR	Implementation Force		Area
IMF	International Monetary Fund	UNPROFOR	United Nations Protection
JDAM	Joint Direct Attack Munition		Force
JNA	Yugoslav People's Army	UNSCR	United Nations Security
MRE	Meals Ready To Eat		Council Resolution
MPRI	Military Professional	VOPP	Vance Owen Peace Plan
	Resources Incorporated	VJ	Army of Yugoslavia
NAC	North Atlantic Council	VRS	Bosnian Serb Military
NATO	North Atlantic Treaty	WEU	Western European Union
	Organisation		~

Glossary of names

Fikret Abdic Rogue Bosniac leader, Bihac Pocket Yasushi Akashi UN Special Envoy Kofi Annan UN Secretary General Arkan Serbian paramilitary Mate Boban Bosnian Croat leader Tony Blair British Prime Minister Carl Bildt EU Representative Francis Briquemont General, Belgium Army, UNPROFOR Momir Bulatovic President of Montenegro George Bush Snr President of the **United States** Lord Carrington EC diplomat Wesley Clark General, US Army, SACEUR William 'Bill' Clinton President of the United States Zlata Filipovic Citizen of Sarajevo Ejup Ganic Vice-President, Bosnia-Hercegovina Boutros Boutros-Ghali UN Secretary General Kiro Gligorov President of Macedonia Richard Holbrooke Assistant Secretary of State Douglas Hurd British Foreign Secretary Alija Izetbegovic President of Bosnia-Hercegovina Sir Michael Jackson General, British Army, **KFOR** Bernard Janvier General, French Army, UNPROFOR

George Joulwan General, US Army, SACEUR Radovan Karadzic President of the Bosnian Serbs Thom Karremans Colonel, Dutch Army, UNPROFOR Milan Kucan President of Slovenia Lewis MacKenzie General, Canadian Army, UNPROFOR John Major British Prime Minister Ante Markovic Prime Minister of the Yugoslav Federation Slobodan Milosevic President of Serbia Ratko Mladic General, Bosnian Serb Army Philippe Morillon General, French Army, UNPROFOR Lord Owen EC diplomat Javier Perez de Cuellar UN Secretary General Sir Michael Rose General, British Army, UNPROFOR Vojislav Seselj Serbian ultra-nationalist Haris Silajdzic Bosniac Foreign Minister Sir Rupert Smith General, British Army, UNPROFOR Bob Stewart Colonel, British Army, UNPROFOR Franjo Tudjman President of Croatia Cyrus Vance UN diplomat Boris Yeltsin President of the Russian Federation

Index

References to illustrations are shown in **bold**.

Abdic, Fikret 40, 50-51 Abdic, Fikret 40, 50–51 Adzic, General 19 Ahmici massacre 45, 62 air strikes 49, 79, 81–82, 87-88 aircraft 20, 21, 46, 48–49, 52, 87 Akashi, Yasushi 29, 49, 53 Annan, Kofi 9–10 Arkan (Zeljko Raznjatovic) 28, 30, 88 Arkan's Tigers' 28, 30, 39 Armoured Fighting Vehicles, Warrior 25, 44, 57, 58, 59, 60–61, 61 61 armoured personnel carriers, Yugoslav 20 artillery 20, 45–46, 81 Austrian-Hungarian Empire 13 Babic, Milan 28 Balkan war zone 1992–94: 42 Balkan war zone 1992–94: 42 Banja Luka 46, 81 Baranja 28 Belgrade 87, 89 Bell, Martin 67, 69-70 Bihac pocket 40, 48, 50–53 Bildt, Carl 54, 84 Blair, Tony 8, 89 Boban, Mate 40 Bosnia-Hercegovina 16, 17, 24, 37, 64, 69, 77 'safe areas' in 51 Bosnia-Hercegovina Armed Forces of (ABiH) Bosnia-Hercegovina, Armed Forces of (ABiH) 21 Bosnia-Hercegovina, war in 24–25, 29, 35, 37, 39–40 Bosniac political and military unpreparedness 39–40 Bosnian Croat position 40 Radovan Karadic and Bosnian Serb tactics 39 Vance Owen Peace Plan 40-42, 43 see also Vance Owen Peace Plan Peace Plan Bosniac-Croat Civil War, 1993–94: 44–46, 62 Ahmici massacre 45, 62 Convoy of Joy and the Mostar bridge 45 co-operation between enemies 45–46 Bosniac-Croat Federation 46, 83–84 Bosniacs (Bosnian Muslims) 37, 39–40, 41–42, 42, 44, 45, 77, 82, 83 Fifth Corps 51 Twenty-Eighth Division 53 Bosnian civilian 73 Bosnian Croats 40, 41, 42, 42, 45 *see also* Croatian Defence Council Council Bosnian forces 50–51, 74 Bosnian Serb forces 39, 49, 50, 51, 53, 75 Fifth 'Drina' Corps 53–54 Bosnian Serbs 39, 45, 79, 81–82 Boutros-Ghali, Boutros 9–10, 29, 49 Brioni Agreement 17, 22, 23, 66 Briquemont, General Francis 33 British position 42–43 see also United Kingdom, strategy for the Balkans Bulatovic, Momir 16 Bulatovic, Momir 16 Carrington, Lord 8, 23, 24, 40, 66 Cessation of Hostilities Agreement (COHA) 53 Cheshire Regiment 25 1st Battalion 56, 57, 58, 59, 60–61, 60, 62 Chetniks (resistance movement) 13, 15 Chetniks (resistance movement) 13, 15 Chinese Embassy 87 Christopher, Warren 65 cities, siege of 28–29 civillan's experiences see Filipovic, Zlata Clark, Gen Wesley 9, 65, 83, 87, 88, 89 Clinton, President Bill 44, 63, 65, 89 Cold War 15, 16, 17–18, 22, 57, 63, 65 communications 58, 60 Concentration camps 7, 13, 25, 39, 69 Conference on (later Organisation for) Security and Cooperation in Europe (CSCE) 23, 69, 86-87 'Convoy of Loy' 45 Convoy of Joy' 45 Crnotina 72 Croatia 13, 17, 22, 24, 29, 44 war in 23, 27-29 Croatia, Armed Forces of the Republic of Serbian Krajina (OS RSK) 19, 21

Croatian Army (HV) 21, 40, 65, 80 Croatian Defence Council (HVO) 21, 46–47 Croatian forces 21, 45 Jokers' anti-terrorist unit 45 Croatian Party of Rights (HSP), military branch (HOS) 40 Croatian Serb forces 29, 80 Davidson, Jim 56 Dayton Agreement 8–9, 83–84, 86, 90 'Delije' (Red Star Belgrade fan club) 28 Djindjic, Zoran 89 Dubrovnik, siege of 28-29, 72 Eagleburger, Lawrence 43–44 Eastern Slavonia 28, 29 Edwards, L/Cpl Wayne 44, 61–62 ethnic cleansing 23, 24, 35, 45, 49 Europe, strategy for the Balkans 66 European Community (EC) 16, 17, 22, 23, 24, 66 military monitors (ECMM) 40 European Union (EU) 22, 66 Filipovic, Malik and Alica 72 Filipovic, Zlata 72-78 France 66 Franz Ferdinand, Archduke of Austria-Hungary 13 Ganic, Vice-President Ejup 40 Genscher, Hans Dietrich 66 Germany 24, 37, 57, 66 Glenny, Misha 41, 69 Gligorov, Kiro 16 Gorazde 48, 49–50 Gornji Vakuf 44, 45–46, 51 Greece 64 Greece 64 Gulf War, 1991: 63 Gutmann, Roy 69 Hague, The, international court 89 see also International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia Holbrooke, Richard 8–9, 44, 65, 70, 81, 83, 86, 87, 88, 89 humanitarian convys 59, 60 Hurd, Douglas 8, 43, 44, 66, 89 IFOR (Implementation Force) 84-85, 84, 86 International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia (ICTY) 7, 26–27, 49, 88, 89, 90 international diplomacy, failure of 40–44 conflict of international aims 42–44 Vance Owen Peace Plan 40–42 *see also* Vance Owen Peace Plan International involvement 17–18, 23–25, 67, 69 International Monetary Fund (IMF) 23, 69 International policy, dual-track 49–50 Izetbegovic, President Alija 8, 16, 37, **38**, 39, **44**, 83–84, 89 Jackson, Lt Gen Sir Michael 9, 88 Janvier, Gen Bernard 53, 54, 81 Joulwan, Gen George 65 Jovic, Borisav 17 'Juka' 26–27 Kadijevic, General 19 Karadzic, President Radovan 7–8, 9, 39, 89–90 Karadzic, President Radovan 7–8, 9, 39, 8 Karremans, Lt-Col Thom 53, 54, 55 Knin 23, 80 Kohl, Helmut 37, 66 Kosovo, relations with Yugoslavia 15, 16 Kosovo Liberation Army (UCK) 86 Kosovo Polje, battle of (1389) 15-16 Kostunica Voiislav 89 Kostunica, Vojislav 89 Krajina 29 Kraljevic, Blaz 40 Kucan, Milan 16, 22 London, Ministry of Defence 56-57

Lukavica 80

Macedonia 64

Mackenzie, Gen Lewis 9, 29, 31 Macura, Lazar 23 Major, John 8, 43, 66, 67, 89 Marcovic, Ante 17, 22 Markovic, Dr Mirjana 16, 89 Marshall, Penny 69 Mazowiecki, Tadeusz 79 media coverage 69–71 Mesic, Stipe 17 Mihatolvic, Col Draza 13, 15 Military Professional Resources Incorporated (MPRI) 65 Milosevic, Marko 88, 89 Milosevic, President Slobodan 7, 8, 16, 20, 22, 23, 26–27, 85, 86, 87 Mackenzie, Gen Lewis 9, 29, 31 86.87 and Bosnia-Hercegovina 24, 37 and Croatia 28 Dayton Agreement 83 the fall of 88–89, 90 the fall of 88–89, 90 holiday properties 64 peace process 54 Milutinovic, President Milan 89 Mladic, Col (later Gen) Ratko 7–8, 9, 9, 29, 54, 55, 55, 80, 82 Mogadishu 18, 63 Morillon, Gen Phillippe 9, 32–33 Mostar 45, 46–47 Bridge of Unity 45, 50 Mujahideen 39, 40 Muslims 39–40, 48 *see also* Bosniacs NATO (North Atlantic Treaty Organisation) 10, 46-48, 49, 53, 65–66, 87 North Atlantic Council 79 'no-fly zone' 46–47 Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs) 69 Northern Ireland 63 Office of the High Representative 84, 86 O'Grady, Scott 47 O'Kane, Maggie 69 Omarska concentration camp 25, 39, 69 Operation Allied Force 87–88 Deliberate Force 81–82 Desert Storm 63 Eagle Eye 87 Grapple 25 Harvest 85 Joint Endeavour 84 Joint Endeavour 84 Joint Guard 84 Sharp Guard 47–48 Storm (Oluja) 80 Organisation for (formerly Conference on) Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) 23, 69, 86–87 Ottoman Empire 13 Owen, Lord 8, 40, 41, 66 see also Vance Owen Peace Plan Pavelic, Ante 13 'peacekeeping' concept 17–18, 25 Perez de Cuellar, Javier 9–10, 65 Plavsic, Biljana 89 Princip, Gavrilo 13 Racak massacre 87 Radio Knin 23 Rapid Reaction Force 81 Rapid Reaction Force 81 reconnaissance vehicle, Scimitar 24 'Red Berets' (former special police unit) 89 Red Star Belgrade fan club ('Delije') 28 refugees 7, 35, 35, 44, 45, 64 Rennie, Cpl Fergus 50 Republika Srpska 39, 80 Richardson, Lt Nick 50 Rose, Gen Sir Michael 9, 33–34, 34, 49–50, 53, 65, 66, 80 Rugova, Dr Ibrahim 87 rules of engagement British ('Orange Card') 32 rules of engagement, British ('Orange Card') 32 Russia 67, 69 see also Soviet Union Rwanda 63 'safe areas' 33, 46-55, 79, 81, 82 see also Bihac pocket; Sarajevo; Srebrenica; Tuzla in Bosnia-Hercegovina 51 international policy, dual-track 49-50 NATO involvement 46-48
Sarajevo 29, 33, 39, 48, 51 Dobrinja 74 Lions Cemetery 79, 82 Markale Market massacres 80 siege of 72-78, 75, 76, 78, 81
Schlieffen Plan 13
Serbia sarctions against 23-24 Serbia, sanctions against 23-24 Serbian Academy of Sciences 15 Serbian forces 19-20 Serbian Krajina, Autonomous Province of the 28

Serbian Project and its Adversaries, The: A Strategy of War Crimes 2.6 Serbian Republic (Bosnia-Hercegovina), Army of the (VRS) 19, 21 Serbian Republic (Bosnia-Hercegovina), Army of the (VRS) 19, 2 Seselj's (Chetniks'/White Eagles 28, 30 SFOR (Stabilisation Force) 84–85, 86 ships, Yugoslav 20–21 Silajdzic, Haris 40 Slovenia 17, 22–23, 24, 66 Slovenian forces 21 Smith, Adm Leighton 66 Smith, Gen Sir Rupert 9, 34–35, 53, 54, 57, 66, 68, 80, 81, 82 snipers 73, 75–76 Solana, Javier 87 soldiers' experiences 35–37 see also Stewart, Lt-Col (later Col) Robert 'Bob' Robert 'Bob' Somalia 63 Soviet Union 15 see also Russia Special Air Service 49–50 Split 57, 58 Srebrenica 9, 48, 53–55, 79 Stambolic, Ivan 88–89 Stewart, Lt-Col (later Col) Robert 'Bob' 56, 56-58, 59, 60–62 daily work 57–58 death of a Cheshire 61–62 obstacles of communication 58, 60 redeployment to Bosnia-Hercegovina 57 returns home 62 tasks of the Cheshires 60 tanks 20, 21 see also Armoured Fighting Vehicles, Warrior; reconnaissance vehicle, Scimitar Territorial Defence Force (Teritorijalna Odbrana - TO) 19 Tito, Josip Broz 15 Totic, Zivko 44–45 Travnik 45 Tudjman, President Franjo 8, 16, 17, 28, 37, 80, 83, 89 Turajlic, Hakija 33 Turkey 64 Tuzla 48–49, 48, 57, 65 United Kingdom, strategy for the Balkans 66-67 see also British position United Nations (UN) 24, 53, 55, 65, 79 see also UNPROFOR forces 18, 29, 31–37 British 33, 36–37, 45, 49-50 see also Cheshire Regiment; Special Air Service Dutch (Dutchbat 3) 9, 53, 54 French bomb disposal team 70–71 soldier experience 35-37 see also Stewart, Lt-Col Robert 'Bob' taken as human shields 53 role 9-10 Security Council Resolutions 29, 48–49, 64, 87, 88 Security Council Resolutions 29, 48–49, 64, 87, 88 United Nations High Commission for Refugees (UNHCR) 64 United Nations Military Observers (UNMO) 50 United Nations Protected Areas (UNPA) 29, **51** United Nations Protected Aleas (UKPA) 29, 31 United States 24, 43, 44, 63, 64-65, 83 UNPROFOR (United Nations Protection Force) 10, 24–25, 31–32, 44, 48–49, 51, 54, 81 and safe areas in Bosnia-Hercegovina 51 theatre-based commanders 31–35 Ustasha (fascist group) 13, 16, 29 Vance, Cyrus 8, 23, 40–41, 41, 65 Vance Owen Peace Plan (VOPP) 40–42, 43, 65, 66, 77 Versailles, Treaty of 13 Vitez 45 British UN camp 33, 56, 57, 60 Vojvodina 16 Vukovar 28 Vulliamy, Ed 69 weapons 20, 21, 29, 36–37, 73, 81 see also artillery; tanks Western European Union (WEU) 23, 69 World War One 13 World War Two 13, 15 Yugoslav Air Force 20, 29 Yugoslav Navy 20-21 Yugoslav People's Army (Jugoslovenska Narodna Armija - JNA) 19-20, 21, 22, 23, 27, 28, 29 'RAM' project 37 Yugoslavia, air defence network 20 Yugoslavia, Army of (VJ) 19 Yugoslavia after World War Two 15 Yugoslavia forces 19, 20-21 Yugoslavian forces 19, 20-21 Zagreb 29 Zepa 48, 79 Zimmermann, Walter 43-44 Zlata's Diary - A Child's Life in Sarajevo 72-78

ELITE (ELI)

Uniforms, equipment, tactics and personalities of troops and commanders

0850455731	ELI	001	THE PARAS 1940-84
085045574X	ELI	002	THE US MARINE CORPS SINCE 1945
085045610X	ELI	004	US ARMY SPECIAL FORCES 1952-84
0850456290	ELI	006	FRENCH FOREIGN LEGION PARATROOPS
0850457300	ELI	010	WARSAW PACT GROUND FORCES
0850457955	ELI	013	US ARMY RANGERS & LRRP UNITS 1942-87
085045865×	ELI	022	WORLD SPECIAL FORCES INSIGNIA
0850459419	ELI	029	VIETNAM AIRBORNE
185532251×	ELI	043	VIETNAM MARINES 1965-73
1855322773	ELI	045	ARMIES OF THE GULF WAR
1855322943	ELI	047	SOUTH AFRICAN SPECIAL FORCES
1855323575	ELI	049	THE GURKHAS
1855323672	ELI	053	INTERNATIONAL BRIGADES IN SPAIN 1936-39
1855323915	ELI	055	MARINE RECON 1940-90
1841761419	ELI	068	THE MILITARY SNIPER SINCE 1914
1841761966	ELI	075	THE INDIAN ARMY 1914-47
1841761842	ELI	076	THE GERMAN FREIKORPS 1918-23
1841767026	ELI	103	VIETNAM ANZACS
1841761842	ELI	113	THE GERMAN FREIKORPS 1918-23

MEN-AT-ARMS (MAA) Uniforms, equipment, history

and organisation of troops

0850453607	MAA 104	ARMIES OF THE VIETNAM WAR 1962-75
1855328399	MAA 108	BRITISH INFANTRY EQUIPMENTS (2) 1908-2000
0850453968	MAA 116	THE SPECIAL AIR SERVICE
0850454182	MAA 123	THE AUSTRALIAN ARMY AT WAR 1899-1975
0850454506	MAA 127	THE ISRAELI ARMY IN THE MIDDLE EAST WARS
		1948-73
0850454824	MAA 133	BATTLE FOR THE FALKLANDS (1) LAND FORCES
0850454921	MAA 134	BATTLE FOR THE FALKLANDS (2) NAVAL FORCES
085045493X	MAA 135	BATTLE FOR THE FALKLANDS (3) AIR FORCES
0850455146	MAA 143	ARMIES OF THE VIETNAM WAR (2)
0850456002	MAA 164	THE CANADIAN ARMY AT WAR
0850456851	MAA 174	THE KOREAN WAR 1950-53
0850458420	MAA 205	US ARMY COMBAT EQUIPMENTS 1910-88
0850459362	MAA 214	US INFANTRY EQUIPMENTS 1775-1910
1855326086	MAA 293	THE RUSSIAN CIVIL WAR (1) THE RED ARMY
1855326213	MAA 300	FRENCH FOREIGN LEGION SINCE 1945
1855326566	MAA 305	THE RUSSIAN CIVIL WAR (2) WHITE ARMIES
1855326655	MAA 306	CHINESE CIVIL WAR ARMIES 1911-49
1855326922	MAA 309	THE ITALIAN INVASION OF ABYSSINIA 1935-36
1855326582	MAA 312	THE ALGERIAN WAR 1954-62
1855327899	MAA 322	THE FRENCH INDOCHINA WAR 1946-54
1841763535	MAA 362	THE JAPANESE ARMY 1931-45 (1) 1931-42

WARRIOR (WAR)

Motivation, training, combat experiences and equipment of individual soldiers

 185532542X
 WAR 023
 US MARINE IN VIETNAM 1965–73

 1855325683
 WAR 028
 GREEN BERET IN VIETNAM

 1841765856
 WAR 065
 US ARMY RANGER 1983–2002

CAMPAIGN (CAM)

Strategies, tactics and battle experiences of opposing armies

0850459605 CAM 004 TET OFFENSIVE 1968 1855327384 CAM 060 THE EBRO 1938

ESSENTIAL HISTORIES (ESS)

Concise overviews of major wars and theatres of war

1841762822 ESS 008 THE KOREAN WAR 1841763713 ESS 020 THE IRAN-IRAQ WAR

NEW VANGUARD (NVG)

Design, development and operation of the machinery of war

1855322838	NVG 002	MI ABRAMS MAIN BATTLE TANK 1982-92
1855323389	NVG 006	T-72 MAIN BATTLE TANK 1974-93
1855323796	NVG 010	WARRIOR MECHANISED COMBAT VEHICLE
		1987–94
1855325381	NVG 018	M2/M3 BRADLEY INFANTRY FIGHTING VEHICLE
		1983-95
1855326434	NVG 021	MERKAVA MAIN BATTLE TANK MKS I, II & III
1855324857	NVG 023	CHALLENGER MAIN BATTLE TANK 1982-97
1855328259	NVG 031	THE M47 AND M48 PATTON TANKS
1841762024	NVG 035	M26/M46 PERSHING TANK 1945-53
1841764159	NVG 052	CADILLAC GAGE V-100 COMMANDO 1960-71

FORTRESS (FOR)

Design, technology and history of key fortresses, strategic positions and defensive systems

Contact us for more details - see below

BATTLE ORDERS (BTO)

Command, deployment, organization and evolution of forces in battle, describing elements of doctrine, training, tactics and equipment

Contact us for more details - see below

AIRCRAFT OF THE ACES (ACES) Experiences and achievements

of 'ace' fighter pilots
1855325012 ACE 004 KOREAN WAR ACES

AVIATION ELITE (AEU)

Combat histories of fighter or bomber units Contact us for more details – see below

COMBAT AIRCRAFT (COM)

History, technology and crews of military aircraft Contact us for more details – see below

To order any of these titles, or for more information on Osprey Publishing, contact:

 Osprey Direct (UK)
 Tel: +44 (0)1933 443863
 Fax: +44 (0)1933 443849
 E-mail: info@ospreydirect.co.uk

 Osprey Direct (USA) c/o MBI Publishing
 Toll-free: 1 800 826 6600
 Phone: 1 715 294 3345

 Fax: 1 715 294 4448
 E-mail: info@ospreydirectusa.com

www.ospreypublishing.com



ront and back cover image: In Kosovo Rifleman David Grimwade of the Royal Green ackets sees in Christmas Day guarding a Serbian church in the centre of Pristina. Rex Features)

In 1991, an ethnically diverse region that had enjoyed decades of peaceful coexistence descended into bitter hatred and chaos, almost overnight. Communities fractured along lines of ethnic and religious affiliation, and the ensuing fighting was deeply personal, resulting in brutality, rape and torture, and ultimately the deaths of thousands of people. This book examines the internal upheavals of the former Yugoslavia and their the failure of the Vance-Owen plan; the first use of NATO in a combat the war in Kosovo, unsanctioned by the UN but prosecuted by NATO forces to prevent the ethnic cleansing of the region.

Essential Histories

A multi-volume history of war seen from political, strategic, tactical, cultural and individual perspectives

'Read them and gain a deeper understanding of war and a stronger basis for thinking about peace.' *Professor Robert O'Neill, Series Editor*



www.ospreypublishing.com

ESSENTIAL HISTORIES

